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       1                        P R O C E E D I N G S

       2                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  I'd like to call this

       3       hearing to order.  And we have Commissioner Argenziano

       4       participating by phone, and our phone system will be

       5       intermittent, and in and out, and all like that, as you

       6       can hear, but we are participating.

       7                 And with that I want to say good morning to

       8       everyone.  Welcome.  It may not seem like welcome, but

       9       anyway, welcome to everyone.

      10                 Staff, would you please read the notice.

      11                 MS. BROOKS:  Good morning, Commissioners.

      12       Pursuant to notice filed on June 10th, 2009, this time

      13       and place has been set for an administrative hearing in

      14       Docket Number 080731, a petition filed by Comcast to

      15       arbitrate an interconnection agreement between Comcast

      16       and TDS Quincy.

      17                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Thank you.  And now let's

      18       take the appearances of the parties.

      19                 MR. WAHLEN:  Good morning, Commissioner.

      20                 I'm Jeff Wahlen of the Ausley and McMullen law

      21       firm appearing on behalf of TDS Quincy.  With me here at

      22       the counsel table is Tom McCabe, who is the regulatory

      23       manager and would not like to be confused as a lawyer.

      24                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Okay.  We'll do that.

      25                 MR. HORTON:  Good morning, sir.  I'm Norman H.

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                      6

       1       Horton, Jr., and entering an appearance also for Floyd

       2       R. Self of Messer Caparello and Self on behalf of

       3       Comcast.  I would like to also enter an appearance for

       4       Mr. Michael Sloan of Davis Wright Tremaine, LLP in

       5       Washington, D.C., and at the same time I'd like to move

       6       his admission as a qualified representative under Rule

       7       28-106.106.

       8                 Mr. Sloan is an attorney, and I have provided

       9       an affidavit, a copy of an affidavit to each of the

      10       Commissioners.  And I can give the original to the court

      11       reporter.

      12                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Thank you.

      13                 MR. WAHLEN:  We do not object.

      14                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  All right.  Show it done.

      15                 MS. BROOKS:  Chairman, Timisha Brooks and

      16       Charlie Murphy on behalf of Commission staff.

      17                 MS. HELTON:  And Mary Anne Helton, Advisor to

      18       the Commission.

      19                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Okay.  Did we get everybody?

      20       Okay.  Welcome to the party.

      21                 Staff, preliminary matters.

      22                 MS. BROOKS:  TDS Quincy and Comcast each have

      23       recently filed requests for official recognition.  These

      24       orders are being drafted and are forthcoming, and we

      25       have a stipulated exhibit list.  Staff has compiled an
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       1       exhibit list that we believe can be entered into the

       2       record by stipulation.

       3                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Hold the phone.  Let's back

       4       up for a moment on the official recognition.  Do you

       5       have a recommendation for us on those?

       6                 MS. BROOKS:  I'm sorry?

       7                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  On the official recognition,

       8       do you have recommendations for us on the disposition of

       9       those?

      10                 MS. BROOKS:  Yes, the orders have been drafted

      11       and are forthcoming.

      12                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Ms. Helton.

      13                 MS. HELTON:  Mr. Chairman, it sounds like that

      14       the prehearing officer has granted the orders -- or the

      15       motions requesting official recognition and the orders

      16       will be entered.

      17                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Show it done.  You may

      18       proceed.

      19                 MS. BROOKS:  Thank you.  And the stipulated

      20       exhibit list, staff has compiled an exhibit list that we

      21       believe can be entered into the record by stipulation.

      22       In an effort to facilitate the interests of exhibits, we

      23       have compiled a chart that we have provided to the

      24       parties, the Commissioners, and the court reporter.  I

      25       would suggest that this list be marked as the first
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       1       hearing exhibit.

       2                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Okay.  Any objections?

       3                 MR. WAHLEN:  No objection.

       4                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Without objection, show it

       5       done.

       6                 (Exhibit Number 1 marked for identification

       7       and admitted into evidence.)

       8                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  You may proceed.

       9                 MS. BROOKS:  Okay.  Commissioners, any

      10       remaining identified exhibits will be proffered by the

      11       respective parties at the time their witnesses are

      12       testifying.

      13                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Okay.  Show it done.

      14                 Let's see, are there any other preliminary

      15       matters, any further preliminary matters?

      16                 MS. BROOKS:  No, Chair.

      17                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Any preliminary matters of

      18       the parties?

      19                 MR. WAHLEN:  No, sir.

      20                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Okay.  It looks like we are

      21       ready for opening statements.  Each side is permitted

      22       five minutes, is that correct?  Is that right?

      23                 MR. HORTON:  Yes, sir.

      24                 MR. WAHLEN:  Yes, sir.

      25                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Okay.  Let's get this party
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       1       started.  You're recognized.

       2                 MR. HORTON:  I think Mr. Sloan will present

       3       the opening statements.

       4                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Good morning and welcome.

       5       Oh, by the way, we do accept the -- let me go back to my

       6       notes, the request for appearance.

       7                 MR. HORTON:  Qualified representative?

       8                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Yes.

       9                 MR. HORTON:  Thank you.

      10                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  For the record, just for the

      11       record.

      12                 MR. SLOAN:  Thank you, Chairman Carter and

      13       Commissioner Argenziano by phone, and Commissioner Skop,

      14       it's a pleasure to be here today.

      15                 Comcast seeks interconnection with TDS as

      16       authorized by Section 251 of the Federal Communications

      17       Act and this Commission's practices, procedures, and

      18       Florida law.  Comcast seeks an agreement just like it

      19       has with five other ILECs, incumbent local exchange

      20       carriers in Florida, and similar to the 150 other

      21       agreements that Comcast affiliates in 38 states have

      22       around the country.

      23                 Comcast affiliates exchange millions of

      24       minutes of telecommunications traffic with these

      25       carriers.  It pays and receives access charges for this
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       1       traffic, and where required, it pays and receives

       2       payment of reciprocal compensation.

       3                 Comcast and its affiliates pay into all state

       4       and federal universal service funds, they pay 911 fees,

       5       they pay all regulatory surcharges, and all other

       6       charges that telecommunications carriers are required to

       7       pay.

       8                 Comcast Phone adheres to all regulatory

       9       obligations required of it.  It files price lists and

      10       service guides as required by Commission rules that

      11       describe its services.  It is obligated to provide

      12       services upon reasonable request, and it does so.

      13                 Comcast Phone is a carrier under every

      14       objective measurement of the term.  Nonetheless, Your

      15       Honors, TDS argues that Comcast is not a

      16       telecommunications carrier.  But as you will see today,

      17       and as we will demonstrate in our briefs, there is very

      18       little to these arguments.  TDS is just trying to keep

      19       Comcast out of its service territory for as long as it

      20       can.

      21                 Comcast is entitled to interconnection with

      22       TDS because it's a telecommunications carrier under

      23       federal law.  Under Section 3 of the Act, a

      24       telecommunications carrier means any provider of

      25       telecommunications services, and telecommunications
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       1       services is, in turn, defined as the offering of

       2       telecommunications, which is the transport of signals

       3       and communications to the public for a fee.  These are

       4       statutory terms and that were codified into the

       5       Communications Act in 1996.  The requirements are common

       6       law basis and they go back decades.

       7                 To be a common carrier, a carrier must do two

       8       things:  First, it must hold itself out to serve all

       9       potential customers indiscriminately; and, secondly, it

      10       must allow each customer to transmit information of the

      11       customer's choosing.

      12                 How does a carrier do this?  Well, it seeks

      13       authority from the appropriate regulator, and where

      14       necessary, Comcast has done that, just as it has done

      15       here in Florida.  And, second, it announces the

      16       availability of its services, as Comcast has done in

      17       Florida through the issuance of its price list and

      18       service guides.

      19                 In other words, a telecommunications carrier

      20       is defined by offering its services to the public.

      21       That's what makes it a common carrier rather than a

      22       private carrier.  But these are not merely paper

      23       formalities.  A common carrier is regulated by this

      24       Commission.  It's subject to enforcement and oversight

      25       by this Commission.
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       1                 And, finally, the obligation to serve the

       2       public doesn't mean that Comcast has to offer its

       3       services to every single end user in the state.  All the

       4       carrier must do is offer its services to the clientele

       5       that it is best suited to serve.  And under the law,

       6       that means a carrier can be purely a wholesale carrier

       7       if that's what it chooses to do, so long as it offers

       8       its services indiscriminately to qualified requesting

       9       customers.

      10                 As Ms. Choroser will explain in her testimony,

      11       Comcast has three main service offerings in Florida that

      12       all involve the transmission of customer information.

      13       It offers its local interconnection service to VoIP

      14       providers.  This service transmits those customers'

      15       traffic to and from them, from the customers to other

      16       carriers on the public switched telephone network, which

      17       you will hear referred to today as the PSTN.

      18                 Comcast also provides a service to E-rate

      19       eligible schools and libraries that provides both

      20       networking and calling capabilities.  Finally, Comcast

      21       offers exchange access services to interexchange

      22       carriers.  Each of these offerings independently qualify

      23       Comcast as a telecommunications carrier and, therefore,

      24       to interconnection.

      25                 What does TDS say?  They point to the fact
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       1       that Comcast discontinued one of its retail service

       2       offerings in 2007.  But the notion that this meant that

       3       Comcast discontinued all of its services is simply

       4       belied by the facts that Comcast does continue to offer

       5       services in Florida, does continue to have customers,

       6       does continue to exchange hundreds of thousands, if not

       7       millions of minutes of telecommunications traffic.

       8                 The next point that TDS makes is that it

       9       doesn't like the terms of one of Comcast's service

      10       offerings, the local interconnection service offering.

      11       But this is not a serious complaint either.  Service

      12       contracts in nearly every industry have similar terms

      13       that are designed to assure that the provider that

      14       provides the service does not lose the investment

      15       associated with providing service.

      16                 TDS's real complaint is that Comcast serves

      17       interconnected VoIP service providers, but that's not a

      18       serious complaint, either.  The FCC has approved the

      19       carrier VoIP partner service arrangement similar to the

      20       one between Comcast and its affiliates and between other

      21       prospective customers in literally a dozen separate

      22       orders.

      23                 Comcast is entitled to provide wholesale

      24       services to interconnected VoIP service providers.

      25       That's what the FCC ruled in the Time Warner case, which
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       1       I'm sure you will hear discussed a fair bit this

       2       morning.  And the FCC went on to rule in a subsequent

       3       order that Comcast's offering of its service to

       4       interconnected VoIP service providers is a

       5       telecommunications service.

       6                 Based on these orders and on the logic of

       7       these orders, commissions and courts in a dozen states

       8       have approved interconnection arrangements exactly like

       9       the one that Comcast seeks here.  With all due respect,

      10       there is simply no basis in the law or the fact for

      11       TDS's position in this case, as Ms. Choroser's testimony

      12       will demonstrate.

      13                 Thank you very much.

      14                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Thank you.

      15                 Let's hear from TDS.

      16                 MR. WAHLEN:  Good morning, Commissioners.

      17       Quincy Telephone doesn't often appear before you, so we

      18       are glad to be here and appreciate the opportunity to

      19       present our case.

      20                 As a beginning point, I'd like to make sure

      21       it's clear who the players are in this case.  Quincy

      22       Telephone is an incumbent local exchange company that

      23       serves in Gadsden County and has about 11,000

      24       subscribers.  Comcast Phone, which is the petitioner in

      25       this case, is certificated as a CLEC by the Commission.
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       1       It does not provide retail, residential, or business

       2       voice services to end user customers.  Those services

       3       are provided in Florida by three of Comcast Phone's

       4       affiliates who consider themselves interconnected VoIP

       5       providers.

       6                 For the rest of the day, we will be referring

       7       to those affiliates as Comcast IP.  Those affiliates,

       8       Comcast IP, provide VoIP-based voice services at fixed

       9       locations in Florida, are not certificated by the Public

      10       Service Commission, are not parties to this case, but

      11       they are important to the story.

      12                 Mr. Sloan suggests that this case is just

      13       about delay, and that's just not the case.  It's more

      14       complicated than that.  The Federal Communications

      15       Commission has not decided whether fixed VoIP voice

      16       service is an information service or a

      17       telecommunications service.  Since that question is

      18       pending at the FCC, fixed interconnected VoIP providers

      19       like Comcast IP must interconnect to the public switched

      20       telephone network through a wholesale interconnection

      21       provider that provides telecommunications services in

      22       its own right.  That's what the Time Warner case says,

      23       and we believe the term in its own right is important

      24       and the central focus of the inquiry here.

      25                 Quincy does not think we would be here if
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       1       Comcast IP would acknowledge that it's providing

       2       telecommunications service and interconnect directly

       3       with Quincy, which Quincy would be willing to do.  The

       4       heart of this dispute is whether Comcast Phone is a

       5       carrier that offers telecommunications service in its

       6       own right, and, therefore, qualifies to seek

       7       interconnection with local exchange carriers like

       8       Quincy.

       9                 Quincy believes that the services Comcast

      10       Phone purports to offer in Florida are offered to create

      11       an illusion that Comcast Phone is offering

      12       telecommunications in its own right, but that Comcast

      13       Phone is not actually providing telecommunications

      14       services in its own right.

      15                 We think the evidence will show five things.

      16       First, Comcast Phone discontinued its circuit-switched

      17       telephone service called Digital Phone Service in 2007.

      18       Comcast Phone only provides its local interconnection

      19       service in Florida to its three affiliated companies

      20       called Comcast IP.

      21                 Number three, Comcast Phone has no customers

      22       for its schools and library network service.

      23                 Number four, what Comcast Phone calls its

      24       exchange access service is not really exchange access.

      25                 And, number five, Comcast Phone does not
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       1       operate as a common carrier in Florida because it does

       2       not offer its services indiscriminately.

       3                 Quincy believes that this arbitration

       4       highlights important issues related to how VoIP services

       5       are treated in Florida and whether private carriers that

       6       transport service for VoIP retail service are entitled

       7       to interconnection with incumbent carriers without

       8       providing any telecommunications services that

       9       necessitate a Section 251 interconnection agreement with

      10       these carriers.

      11                 Thank you.

      12                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Thank you.

      13                 Staff, we have heard the opening statements of

      14       the parties.  Is there anything further before we swear

      15       in the witnesses?

      16                 MS. BROOKS:  No, Chairman.

      17                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  From the parties, any

      18       preliminary matters before we swear in the witnesses?

      19                 MR. HORTON:  No, sir.

      20                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Thank you.

      21                 Witnesses, would you please stand as I

      22       administer the oath to you, and raise your right hand.

      23                 (Witnesses sworn.)

      24                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Thank you.  You may be

      25       seated.
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       1                 Okay.  You may call your first witness.

       2                 MR. HORTON:  Comcast would call Beth Choroser.

       3                            BETH CHOROSER

       4       was called as a witness on behalf of Comcast Phone of

       5       Florida, and having been duly sworn, testified as

       6       follows:

       7                          DIRECT EXAMINATION

       8       BY MR. HORTON:

       9            Q.   Would you state your name and address for the

      10       record, please?

      11            A.   It's Beth Choroser, and my address is One

      12       Comcast Center, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

      13            Q.   And by whom are you employed?

      14            A.   By Comcast Cable Communications.

      15            Q.   And did you prepare and prefile in this docket

      16       direct testimony consisting of 13 pages?

      17            A.   Yes, I did.

      18            Q.   Do you have any changes or corrections to make

      19       to the testimony at this time?

      20            A.   Yes, I do.  On Page 5, Line 14, the statutory

      21       reference should be 14 rather than 16.

      22            Q.   Do you have any other corrections to your

      23       direct testimony?

      24            A.   No, I do not.

      25            Q.   And if I were to -- with those changes, if I
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       1       were to ask you the questions contained in your direct

       2       testimony today, would your answers be the same?

       3            A.   Yes, they would.

       4                 MR. HORTON:  Mr. Chairman, I would request the

       5       insertion of the direct testimony at this time.

       6                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  The prefiled testimony of

       7       the witness will be inserted into the record as though

       8       read.

       9       BY MR. HORTON:

      10            Q.   And you had no exhibits attached to the direct

      11       testimony, did you?

      12            A.   That's correct.

      13            Q.   Did you also prepare and prefile in this

      14       docket rebuttal testimony consisting of 20 pages?

      15            A.   Yes, I did.

      16            Q.   And do you have any changes or corrections to

      17       make to that testimony?

      18            A.   Yes, I do.  On Page 6, Line 8, between the

      19       words all and of, "but one" should be inserted.  On Line

      20       9, the word "no" should be struck.  On Line 10, between

      21       the word received and the comma, should say "with only

      22       one other carrier."  And on Line 12 --

      23                 MR. WAHLEN:  Could you slow down a second.

      24                 THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.

      25                 MR. WAHLEN:  Where are you on the third one?
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       1                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Why don't you just take it

       2       from the top again.  Let's go back to the beginning.

       3                 MR. SLOAN:  Ms. Choroser has a different copy

       4       of her rebuttal testimony so she is going to correct

       5       that.

       6                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Okay.  Let's take a moment.

       7       But when you get it together, Ms. Choroser, let's start

       8       back from the very beginning.

       9                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.  So on Page 6 --

      10                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Is that your first one?

      11                 THE WITNESS:  This is the -- this is the only

      12       corrections to the rebuttal testimony.

      13                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Were you clear on the --

      14       before we go to rebuttal, on the direct were you clear

      15       on that?  Any questions on that?  Do we need to go back

      16       to the --

      17                 MR. WAHLEN:  Well, she said no changes to the

      18       direct except one, and I got that one.

      19                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Okay.  So you got that.

      20       Okay.  Let's proceed.

      21                 THE WITNESS:  So on Line 13, between the words

      22       all and of should be "but one."  On Line --

      23                 MR. WAHLEN:  Could you read what the sentence

      24       is supposed to read after it's corrected?

      25                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.  It should say all but one
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       1       of Comcast's interconnection agreements.

       2                 MR. WAHLEN:  Okay.  Thank you.

       3                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.  On Line 14, the word "no"

       4       should be struck.  On Line 15, between the word

       5       "received" and the comma, it should say "with only one

       6       other carrier."  And then on Line 17, the word "similar"

       7       should be struck and between the word for and terms, it

       8       should say "bill and keep."  That's it.

       9                 MR. WAHLEN:  Okay.  Thank you.

      10       BY MR. SLOAN:

      11            Q.   And with those -- with those changes, if I

      12       were to ask you the questions that are contained in your

      13       rebuttal testimony today, would your answers be the

      14       same?

      15            A.   Yes, they would.

      16                 MR. HORTON:  Mr. Chairman, I would request

      17       that the rebuttal testimony with the corrections as

      18       noted be inserted into the record as though read.

      19                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  The prefiled testimony will

      20       be accepted into the record as though read with the

      21       revisions.

      22       BY MR. HORTON:

      23            Q.   And you also prepared and attached to your

      24       rebuttal testimony a Composite Exhibit VAC-1, which has

      25       been premarked as Exhibit 2.  That exhibit was prepared
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       1       under your direction and supervision?

       2            A.   Yes, it was.

       3                 MR. HORTON:  We would offer the exhibit

       4       subject to cross-examination, Mr. Chairman.

       5                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  For identification purposes,

       6       it is marked.

       7                 (Exhibit Number 2 marked for identification.)
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       1       BY MR. HORTON:

       2            Q.   And do you have a summary of your testimony?

       3            A.   Yes, I do.

       4            Q.   Would you present that, please.

       5            A.   My name is Beth Choroser.  I am Executive

       6       Director of Regulatory Compliance for Comcast Cable

       7       Communications.  I'm responsible for regulatory matters

       8       for Comcast Corporation's voice services affiliates,

       9       including Comcast Phone of Florida.

      10                 Among other things, I am the lead for

      11       negotiating interconnection agreements with incumbent

      12       carriers like TDS.  I have negotiated or adopted nearly

      13       150 interconnection agreements for Comcast affiliates

      14       around the country, including agreements with AT&T,

      15       Verizon, Embarq, WindStream and Northeast Florida

      16       Telecom in Florida.  TDS and a small carrier in Vermont

      17       are the only ILECs in the country that have ever refused

      18       to execute agreements based on the claim that Comcast is

      19       not a telecommunications carrier.

      20                 Comcast is clearly a telecommunications

      21       carrier.  It has authority from this Commission to

      22       provide telecommunications services, and it does, in

      23       fact, provide such services.  Comcast advertises its

      24       offerings to prospective customers in price lists and

      25       service schedules that are filed with the Commission and
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       1       available for viewing on Comcast's website.

       2                 Comcast Phone offers three services in

       3       Florida.  First, we offer a local interconnection

       4       service, which is sometimes referred to by its acronym

       5       L-I-S, or LIS, to qualified providers of interconnected

       6       Voice over Internet Protocol services.  LIS is basically

       7       a transport service.  Customers transmit TDM or time

       8       division multiplexing traffic to Comcast Phone, and

       9       Comcast Phone routes that traffic to other carriers on

      10       the public switched telephone network.  And, of course,

      11       vice versa, as this is a two-way service.

      12                 LIS includes other services, as well,

      13       including signaling, telephone numbers, directory

      14       listings, and access to 911, among other things

      15       depending upon the customer's needs.  When required, we

      16       pay and bill reciprocal compensation for locally rated

      17       traffic.  And as I explain below, LIS includes an

      18       exchange access component for which we bill

      19       interexchange carriers originating and terminating

      20       access.  Simply put, LIS traffic is telecommunications

      21       traffic.  It's important to note that Comcast Phone does

      22       not provide any VoIP services.

      23                 Second, we offer a school and library service

      24       to E-Rate eligible schools and libraries.  This is both

      25       a local exchange service offering and a special access
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       1       offering.  Our school and library customers will expect

       2       to be able to make and receive local and long distance

       3       calls.  We will require interconnection in order to

       4       provide the service.

       5                 Finally, as I noted above, Comcast Phone

       6       currently provide access services to 35 interexchange

       7       carriers in Florida.  Comcast Phone terminates hundreds

       8       of thousands of minutes of traffic for interexchange

       9       carriers, and they pay access charges in exchange for

      10       Comcast Phone routing their traffic for termination.

      11                 In sum, there is simply no basis for TDS's

      12       claim that Comcast Phone is not a telecommunications

      13       carrier.  We are, and we offer telecommunications

      14       services to our customers, and we require

      15       interconnection to exchange that traffic.

      16                 Thank you.

      17                 MR. HORTON:  The witness is available.  And,

      18       Mr. Chairman, I need to be excused for a moment to check

      19       on some other arrangements.  Mr. Sloan will --

      20                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  That's fine.

      21                 You're recognized.

      22                 MR. WAHLEN:  Thank you.

      23                          CROSS EXAMINATION

      24       BY MR. WAHLEN:

      25            Q.   Good morning.  Am I pronouncing your name
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       1       correctly when I will say Choroser?

       2            A.   Yes.

       3            Q.   Close enough?

       4            A.   That's very good.

       5            Q.   Very good.

       6                 You said you are the Executive Director for

       7       Regulatory Compliance for Comcast Cable Communications,

       8       and that you are responsible for regulatory compliance

       9       for the Comcast companies that provide voice service.

      10       Did I hear that correctly?

      11            A.   Yes, that's correct.

      12            Q.   And does that include the various Comcast

      13       companies that provide VoIP voice service?

      14            A.   VoIP, yes.

      15            Q.   Okay.  But in this case you are testifying on

      16       behalf of Comcast Phone of Florida, is that correct?

      17            A.   Yes.

      18            Q.   Okay.  If I use the term Comcast Phone, will

      19       you understand that's who I'm talking about as opposed

      20       to Comcast IP?  I just want to make sure we are clear on

      21       the terminology, is that okay?

      22            A.   Yes, that's fine.

      23            Q.   All right.  Now, Comcast Phone offers

      24       something called a local interconnection service to

      25       qualified providers of interconnected VoIP services,
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       1       isn't that correct?

       2            A.   Yes, that's correct.

       3            Q.   And I could refer you to the interrogatory

       4       answers if you wish, but I believe the interrogatory

       5       answers that have been provided in this case indicate

       6       that Comcast Phone provides its local interconnection

       7       service to three Comcast affiliates in Florida, is that

       8       correct?

       9            A.   Today, that's correct.

      10            Q.   That's right.  And just for the record, so we

      11       are clear on who those are, I think the interrogatory

      12       answers say that they are named Comcast Phone -- I'm

      13       sorry, Comcast IP Phone, LLC; Comcast IP Phone II, LLC;

      14       and Comcast IP Phone, III, LLC.  Does that sound

      15       correct?

      16            A.   That sounds correct, yes.

      17            Q.   Okay.  Now, if I refer to those companies as

      18       Comcast IP during the cross-examination, will you

      19       understand that I'm talking about those three companies?

      20            A.   Yes.

      21            Q.   Okay.  Now, the Comcast IP companies are VoIP

      22       providers, is that correct?

      23            A.   Yes.  They're interconnected VoIP providers as

      24       defined by the FCC.

      25            Q.   Correct.  And they are not regulated by the
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       1       Florida Public Service Commission, is that correct?

       2            A.   That's my understanding.

       3            Q.   Okay.  Now, if an individual is sitting at

       4       home watching television and has Comcast cable, and an

       5       ad comes on the television for Comcast Digital Voice,

       6       and the customer decides to subscribe to that service,

       7       does the customer take service from one of the Comcast

       8       IP companies?  Is that who they are getting service

       9       from?

      10            A.   If they are subscribing to Comcast Digital

      11       Voice, yes, they are.

      12            Q.   Okay.  And so the service that Comcast IP

      13       provides is a service called Comcast Digital Voice in

      14       Florida, that's correct?

      15            A.   Yes, that's correct.

      16            Q.   Okay.  And a subscriber or end user that takes

      17       the Comcast Digital Voice service from Comcast IP

      18       wouldn't have a direct relationship with Comcast Phone,

      19       is that correct?

      20            A.   That's correct.

      21            Q.   Now, Comcast Phone has a CLEC certificate from

      22       the Public Service Commission, Florida Public Service

      23       Commission?

      24            A.   Yes, it does.  It has two CPCNs.

      25            Q.   Okay.  And how long has Comcast Phone been
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       1       certificated by the Public Service Commission?

       2            A.   I am not sure how many years exactly, because

       3       those certificates were obtained by a predecessor

       4       company, but it has been quite sometime.

       5            Q.   Okay.  Now, Comcast Phone -- isn't it true

       6       that Comcast Phone used to provide a service called

       7       Digital Phone Service to residential and business

       8       customers in Florida?

       9            A.   Yes, it did.

      10            Q.   And that service, Digital Phone Service, that

      11       was offered by Comcast Phone was a circuit-switched

      12       telephony product, isn't that correct?

      13            A.   That's correct.

      14            Q.   And isn't it true that Comcast Phone made

      15       filings with the FCC in July and August of 2007 to

      16       discontinue its Digital Phone Service in Florida?

      17            A.   Yes, but that was the only service that

      18       Comcast Phone discontinued.  It did not surrender its

      19       certificate, and it continues to provide other services.

      20            Q.   Okay.  Now, when Comcast Phone made those

      21       filings with the FCC, copies were filed with the Florida

      22       Public Service Commission, weren't they?

      23            A.   Yes, they were.

      24            Q.   And isn't it true that when Comcast Phone made

      25       its 2007 discontinuance filings for Florida with the FCC
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       1       it told the FCC that it would no longer be providing

       2       local exchange service in Florida, isn't that correct?

       3            A.   Well, I don't recall exactly what the

       4       certificate said, but the certificate -- the letter, but

       5       the letter did not say that Comcast Phone would be

       6       ceasing to provide telecommunications.  I'm certain of

       7       that.

       8                 MR. WAHLEN:  I'm going to ask Mr. McCabe to

       9       hand out a couple of documents.

      10                 Tom, here's another one.

      11                 These documents are part of Mr. Meredith's

      12       Exhibit Number DDM-01, which I believe staff has

      13       identified as Exhibit Number 3, and these attachments,

      14       these documents are marked Attachment 30-1 and 30-2 at

      15       the bottom.

      16                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Give us one second.

      17                 MR. WAHLEN:  Sure.

      18                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  You may proceed.

      19                 MR. WAHLEN:  Just as a housekeeping matter,

      20       Mr. Chairman, these documents will be introduced into

      21       the record or offered into the record as part of Mr.

      22       Meredith's exhibit, but I wanted to ask Ms. Choroser

      23       some questions about these.

      24       BY MR. WAHLEN:

      25            Q.   Ms. Choroser, would you refer to the document
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       1       that has on its front Page 36 of 56.  It was filed and

       2       accepted by the FCC on July 25th.  Do you see that?

       3            A.   Yes, I do.

       4            Q.   And would you refer to Page 2, please.  And in

       5       particular, I would like to draw your attention to

       6       Paragraph 4.  Do you see that?

       7            A.   Yes, I do.

       8            Q.   Isn't it true, ma'am, that when this

       9       discontinuance filing was made with the FCC, Comcast

      10       Phone said that it would not be providing local exchange

      11       service in Florida?

      12            A.   No.  It says that it's discontinuing certain

      13       services, which include local exchange, interexchange

      14       and international telephone services.  It doesn't say

      15       anything about surrendering its certification.

      16            Q.   No, ma'am.  I didn't ask you if you were

      17       surrendering your certificate.  I'm just asking if this

      18       says that Comcast was seeking authority to discontinue

      19       local exchange service in Florida.

      20            A.   But it refers to certain local exchange

      21       services.  It doesn't say discontinue all local exchange

      22       service.

      23            Q.   Okay.  But this document says that Comcast

      24       Phone seeks authority to discontinue local exchange

      25       service?
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       1            A.   Yes, which referred to a particular type of

       2       local exchange service.

       3            Q.   Okay.  Now, there is a similar document that

       4       is Pages 45 -- it begins on Page 45 of Mr. Meredith's

       5       exhibit.  That's a similar discontinuance filing made on

       6       August 20th, 2007, do you see that?

       7            A.   Yes.

       8            Q.   And if you look on Page 2 of that filing, it

       9       contains the same language, isn't that correct?

      10            A.   Yes, it does.  And I should note, too, that

      11       this language might be a little confusing, and it did

      12       prompt Comcast at one point to file a clarification with

      13       the FCC to make it abundantly clear that it was only

      14       discontinuing certain services and not discontinuing the

      15       offering of telecommunications altogether.

      16            Q.   But Comcast Phone did tell the FCC that it

      17       would not be providing local exchange service, isn't

      18       that correct?

      19            A.   Well, we did clarify to the FCC that we were,

      20       again, discontinuing a certain service that was offered

      21       under the trade name of Comcast Digital Phone.  Once

      22       again, we did not tell the FCC that we were ceasing to

      23       offer telecommunications services altogether.

      24            Q.   Okay.  Ma'am, in your responsibilities as

      25       Director of Regulatory Compliance, do you know whether
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       1       the term local exchange service is defined in the

       2       Telecommunications Act?

       3            A.   I believe it is.

       4            Q.   Okay.  Do you know what the definition of

       5       local exchange is in the Telecommunications Act?

       6            A.   Well, I don't think I can quote it to you

       7       exactly, but I think it's the offering of services

       8       within an exchange or a set of exchanges, and that they

       9       offer intercommunication or origination and termination.

      10       And I believe there is a second part which notes that

      11       the facilities arrangements are fairly broad, broadly

      12       defined.

      13            Q.   Would you agree, subject to check, that the

      14       definition that you have just roughly paraphrased is the

      15       definition of telephone exchange service, not local

      16       exchange service?

      17            A.   I believe you are right.  That is correct.

      18                 MR. SLOAN:  Mr. Wahlen, perhaps you can

      19       provide Ms. Choroser a copy of the Act.

      20                 MR. WAHLEN:  I would be happy to do that.

      21       Thank you for asking.

      22       BY MR. WAHLEN:

      23            Q.   Ms. Choroser, Mr. McCabe has handed out a

      24       document that is excerpts from 47 USC, Section 153,

      25       which is the definition section in the
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       1       Telecommunications Act, and I will call your attention

       2       to the second page, (47), where telephone exchange

       3       service is defined.  Is that the definition you were

       4       searching for?

       5            A.   That is the definition I was paraphrasing.

       6            Q.   Okay.  So when Comcast Phone told the FCC that

       7       it was ceasing local exchange service in Florida, did it

       8       mean that it was ceasing telephone exchange service?

       9                 MR. SLOAN:  Your Honor, I object.  The

      10       question has been asked and answered about a half dozen

      11       times now.

      12                 MR. WAHLEN:  I don't think she has answered

      13       that question.

      14                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  I'll allow.  You may

      15       proceed.

      16                 THE WITNESS:  Could you repeat the question

      17       again, please.

      18       BY MR. WAHLEN:

      19            Q.   Yes.  In the two discontinuance filings that

      20       Comcast Phone made with the FCC, which said that Comcast

      21       Phone was going to stop local exchange service, did

      22       Comcast Phone mean that it was ceasing telephone

      23       exchange service?

      24            A.   Well, again, Comcast Phone was not ceasing to

      25       provide in whole any type of service.  It was ceasing to
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       1       provide its service that was marketed under the name

       2       Comcast Digital Phone, and that's all Comcast was

       3       ceasing to provide.

       4                 MR. WAHLEN:  Commissioner, I'm not sure she

       5       answered my question.  I asked her if they intended to

       6       say or mean that they were ceasing telephone exchange

       7       service, and that calls for a yes or no answer.

       8                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  If possible; if possible, if

       9       you could answer yes or no, but you still will be

      10       allowed to explain your answer.

      11                 THE WITNESS:  Well, I believe --

      12                 MR. SLOAN:  Would you repeat the question,

      13       please?

      14                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Sure.  Let's do that, let's

      15       repeat the question.

      16                 MR. WAHLEN:  Sure.

      17                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  And give her an opportunity

      18       again.  If you can, you can say yes or no, and then you

      19       will be allowed to explain your answer.  You may

      20       proceed.

      21       BY MR. WAHLEN:

      22            Q.   When Comcast Phone made its discontinuance

      23       filings with the FCC and said that it was going to stop

      24       local exchange service, did Comcast Phone mean that it

      25       would no longer be providing telephone exchange service?
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       1            A.   No, because it was only ceasing to provide one

       2       type of service that might include telephone exchange

       3       service, but only the service marketed under the name

       4       Comcast Digital Phone.

       5            Q.   Does Comcast Phone consider itself to be a

       6       local exchange company?

       7            A.   Yes, it does.  It holds a certificate of

       8       public convenience and necessity from this Public

       9       Service Commission to do so.

      10            Q.   And then why did it tell the FCC that it was

      11       going to stop providing local exchange service in

      12       Florida?

      13            A.   Because it was ceasing to provide one type of

      14       local exchange service, and as I mentioned before, it

      15       made that clear to the FCC in a follow-up filing.

      16            Q.   Okay.  I'd like to talk about each of the

      17       three services that you say Comcast Phone is providing

      18       in Florida.  So I would like to change gears just a

      19       minute and talks first about schools and library

      20       service.

      21                 When did Comcast Phone begin offering its

      22       schools and library service in Florida?

      23            A.   It was about a year ago.

      24            Q.   Okay.  And as of February 27th of this year,

      25       when Comcast Phone responded to Quincy's
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       1       interrogatories, it's true, isn't it, that Comcast Phone

       2       had no subscribers to its schools and library network

       3       service?

       4            A.   Yes, that's correct.  Comcast Phone does not

       5       yet have any subscribers.

       6            Q.   So even today Comcast Phone does not have any

       7       subscribers to its schools and library network service?

       8            A.   Yes, that's correct.

       9            Q.   So you have been offering the service for a

      10       year and you have no subscribers?

      11            A.   That's correct, not yet.

      12            Q.   Okay.  Now I would like to refer you to your

      13       direct testimony, Page 6, Lines 4 through 10, please.

      14       Are you there?

      15            A.   Okay.

      16            Q.   And I think your testimony says that your

      17       schools and library network service is a high speed data

      18       service that uses interconnection -- or used for

      19       interconnection of local area networks, is that correct?

      20            A.   Yes.  And it also says that it includes a

      21       component for channelized exchange service, as well.

      22            Q.   Right.  Now, the primary purpose of the

      23       schools and library network service is to provide a high

      24       speed data service that uses point-to-point T-1 circuits

      25       for interconnection of local area networks across
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       1       customers' physical locations, isn't that correct?

       2            A.   No, because the service has two

       3       functionalities.  One is the network service that you

       4       just explained, and the second is a local exchange

       5       service functionality.

       6            Q.   Okay.  Well, let's just talk about the first

       7       part of that service, point-to-point T-1 circuits for

       8       interconnection of local area networks across customers'

       9       physical locations.  That is essentially a private line

      10       service, isn't it?

      11            A.   I would say that's akin to a private line

      12       service, yes.

      13            Q.   Okay.  Now, I'd like to refer you to Page 18

      14       of your rebuttal testimony, please.

      15            A.   Okay.

      16            Q.   There on Lines 7 through 9, you state that

      17       Comcast Phone offers the schools and library network

      18       service indiscriminately to any eligible school or

      19       library in Florida, is that correct?

      20            A.   Yes.

      21            Q.   Now, when you refer to eligible schools and

      22       libraries on Page 18, are you referring to schools and

      23       libraries that are eligible for the federal E-Rate?

      24            A.   Yes.

      25            Q.   And does Comcast, in fact, offer its schools
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       1       and library network service to all eligible schools and

       2       libraries in Florida?

       3            A.   Yes, it does, pursuant to its price list on

       4       file with this Public Service Commission.

       5            Q.   Well, let's look at your price list, then.  I

       6       think you included it in your rebuttal exhibit.  Let's

       7       see if I can find that.

       8                 MR. SLOAN:  Page 71.

       9                 MR. WAHLEN:  Yes, Page 71 of Ms. Choroser's

      10       Exhibit Number 2.

      11       BY MR. WAHLEN:

      12            Q.   It is true, isn't it, Ms. Choroser, that you

      13       really only offer your channelized exchange service if

      14       facilities and systems are available, isn't that

      15       correct?

      16            A.   Well, it does say that in the tariff, yes.

      17            Q.   And it also goes on to say that facilities and

      18       equipment of a type or quantity necessary to provide

      19       schools and library network service are not available on

      20       a ubiquitous basis in the company's service area, isn't

      21       that correct?

      22            A.   Yes, it is.  And in my experience this is

      23       extremely common tariff language.

      24            Q.   And just so we are clear, you don't have any

      25       customers for either the channelized exchange service or
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       1       the private line type function offered through your

       2       schools and library network service?

       3            A.   Not yet through this particular entity.

       4            Q.   Okay.  Let's talk about exchange access, if we

       5       can change gears.  You're familiar with the term

       6       exchange access in the Telecommunications Act, ma'am?

       7            A.   Yes.

       8            Q.   Just for your reference, I think if you look

       9       at the document that Mr. McCabe gave you, the very first

      10       definition that has been put there is the definition of

      11       exchange access in (16).  Do you see that?

      12            A.   Yes, I do.

      13            Q.   And it says that exchange access is the

      14       offering of access to telephone exchange services or

      15       facilities for the purpose of originating or

      16       terminating -- or origination or termination of

      17       telephone toll services, correct?

      18            A.   Yes, it does say that.

      19            Q.   Okay.  I want to talk for a minute about how

      20       the calls flow from Comcast IP customers through Comcast

      21       Phone to the public switched network.  If a Comcast IP

      22       customer who's taking the digital voice service

      23       originates a toll call, a long distance call, it's true

      24       that that call originates on the network of Comcast IP,

      25       is that correct?
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       1            A.   Well, first of all, I don't think it's

       2       appropriate to refer to just Comcast IP, because it

       3       could be any interconnected VoIP provider.  But if you

       4       are talking about a toll call in the traditional sense

       5       of telecommunications, that call in time division

       6       multiplexing format, you would actually have -- Comcast

       7       IP would be the customer, or another VoIP provider would

       8       be the customer of Comcast Phone, and Comcast Phone

       9       would be originating the traditional toll call.

      10            Q.   Well, that's not the question I asked.  The

      11       question I'm asking is when a Comcast IP customer wants

      12       to make a toll call, that call is originated on the

      13       Comcast IP network and is transported over the Comcast

      14       Phone network pursuant to the local interconnection

      15       service price list to the public switched telephone

      16       network, is that correct?

      17            A.   I don't think I can answer that, because I

      18       think the terminology that's used with respect to VoIP

      19       service and particularly any distance VoIP services is

      20       different.  So if you are asking me whether a Comcast IP

      21       subscriber or a subscriber of another interconnected

      22       VoIP service could -- could contract with Comcast Phone

      23       to be able to transmit traffic that ends up, you know,

      24       out of the local exchange, the typical local exchange

      25       calling area, yes, that could occur.
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       1            Q.   And the calls that you just described, those

       2       toll calls that you just described originate on the

       3       network of the interconnected VoIP provider?

       4            A.   Again, if you are talking about from an end

       5       user perspective, an end user of a VoIP provider service

       6       can originate a call on that network and Comcast Phone

       7       can originate traffic sent to it by -- or terminate

       8       traffic sent to it by its VoIP provider customers.

       9            Q.   Well, I think we have a disagreement perhaps

      10       about where the call originates, and that is what I

      11       would like to try to talk about, toll calls and where

      12       they originate.  Is it your position that Comcast IP and

      13       other interconnected VoIP providers when they bundle

      14       calls or voice traffic from end user customers and

      15       deliver them to Comcast Phone, that's where the toll

      16       call originates when it hits your network?

      17            A.   Well, again, if you're talking about

      18       telecommunications traffic in the time division

      19       multiplexing format, then that begins on the network of

      20       Comcast Phone.  If you're talking about VoIP traffic in

      21       an IP format, Internet protocol format, that is

      22       transported on the network of the interconnected VoIP

      23       provider that would be a customer of Comcast Phone.

      24            Q.   Okay.  All right.  Is it your position that

      25       the conversion to TDM on Comcast Phone's network means
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       1       or is legally significant because that's originating

       2       toll traffic?

       3            A.   Well, first of all, I think you said that the

       4       conversion to TDM occurs on Comcast Phone's network and

       5       that's not correct.

       6            Q.   Okay.

       7            A.   That happens on the VoIP provider's network.

       8            Q.   Okay.  Well, in either case, the call begins

       9       by a customer of an interconnected voice provider

      10       picking up the phone and accessing the interconnected

      11       VoIP provider's network, right?  That's where the call

      12       begins.  No matter what the format is that's where the

      13       call begins.

      14            A.   That is where a VoIP call is originated.

      15            Q.   Right, and it doesn't originate on the network

      16       of Comcast Phone.

      17            A.   It is originating -- that call when it

      18       enters -- when it leaves the consumer's premise is

      19       entering the network of the VoIP provider.

      20            Q.   Right.  So it originates on the VoIP

      21       provider's network, not Comcast Phone's network?

      22            A.   Right.

      23            Q.   Okay.  Now, let's talk about it the other way,

      24       the other direction.  You know, when the call is coming

      25       into the VoIP provider customer's premise?
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       1            A.   Uh-huh.

       2            Q.   The very same thing is true; those calls

       3       terminate to a customer who is connected to the VoIP

       4       provider's network, not Comcast Phone's network, isn't

       5       that correct?

       6            A.   No, I wouldn't put it that way, because I

       7       think you have to distinguish between the two services.

       8       And if you are talking about the service that Comcast

       9       Phone providers, it's providing a transmission service

      10       for its customers where it's taking traffic that might

      11       be originated on the PSTN, and it's transporting it and

      12       terminating to its customer, who if you're referring to

      13       the LIS service, would be an interconnected VoIP

      14       provider.

      15                 Now, the interconnected VoIP provider would

      16       then take the call and would convert that back into the

      17       IP format of the VoIP provider, and then the VoIP

      18       provider would transmit that to its end user customer.

      19            Q.   And that's where the call terminates?

      20            A.   And that is where the call terminates, yes.

      21            Q.   Now, let's look at the definition of exchange

      22       access.  The term exchange access means the offering of

      23       access of telephone exchange services or facilities for

      24       the purpose of origination or termination of toll

      25       telephone service.  In the situations that we have just
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       1       described, the calls originate or terminate on the

       2       network of the interconnected VoIP provider, not on the

       3       network of Comcast Phone, isn't that correct?

       4            A.   No, I don't think that's what I said.  I said

       5       it depended upon what leg of traffic you were talking

       6       about and who the service provider was.

       7            Q.   Okay.  Are you familiar with the term

       8       exchange?

       9            A.   Can you point me to a definition here?

      10            Q.   Sure.  Let's look on Page 14 of 146 of your

      11       exhibit.  That's Section 1.3 of Comcast Phone's price

      12       list where you define exchange.

      13            A.   Are you talking about the list?

      14            Q.   Yes.

      15            A.   And could you give me the page number again,

      16       please?

      17            Q.   Yes, 14 of 146.

      18            A.   And could you provide me with the sheet number

      19       on the list here, please.

      20            Q.   Sure.  I think it is -- well, it's

      21       Section 1.3, definitions.  It looks like maybe FL07-002.

      22       I don't know.

      23            A.   I'm sorry, because the list -- price list

      24       begins at Section 7.1.

      25            Q.   Okay.  This is your access service tariff.
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       1            A.   Okay.

       2            Q.   I'm sorry, I misspoke.

       3                 MR. SLOAN:  What page are we on?

       4                 MR. WAHLEN:  I'm on Page 14 of 146.

       5            A.   And what section are you referring to?

       6            Q.   I am in Section 1.3, exchange.

       7                 Are you with me?

       8            A.   I'm there.  Thank you.

       9            Q.   Okay.  Now, it's your position that Comcast

      10       Phone offers exchange access service in Florida, is that

      11       correct?

      12            A.   Yes.  Comcast bills about 35 different

      13       interexchange carriers for exchange access services in

      14       Florida.

      15            Q.   Okay.  It's true, though, that Comcast Phone

      16       has not included maps or legal descriptions of any

      17       exchanges in Florida in its price list, isn't that

      18       correct?

      19            A.   I have not memorized the whole price list.

      20            Q.   Well, would you agree, subject to check, that

      21       if you look in the price list you can't find a map or a

      22       legal description of the exchanges?

      23            A.   Well, all I can tell you is I'm not sure if

      24       they are in there or not, but --

      25            Q.   Okay.  As part of the channelized exchange

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                     79

       1       service, which is in Section 6.1.3 of your tariff, and

       2       I'm back on Page 71 of your exhibit, you say that

       3       Comcast Phone -- or Comcast Phone claims that it

       4       provides the functional equivalent of a long distance

       5       service, is that correct?

       6            A.   And what section are you in?

       7            Q.   Page 71 of 146.  I'm in Section 6.1.3,

       8       channelized exchange service.

       9            A.   Okay.  And what subsection are you referring

      10       to?

      11            Q.   A.1, 6.1.3.A.1.

      12            A.   Thank you.  And could you repeat your question

      13       again, please?

      14            Q.   Okay.  That section of the tariff says that

      15       Comcast Phone is offering the equivalent of a long

      16       distance service, is that correct?

      17            A.   It says that it's providing the functional

      18       equivalent of 24 voice grade facilities providing local

      19       and long distance dialing capability.

      20            Q.   Okay.  I'd like you to look back on the

      21       federal definitions that I handed out to the very last

      22       one, which is the definition of telephone toll service.

      23       Are you with me?

      24            A.   Yes.

      25            Q.   And can you read the telephone toll service
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       1       definition there to yourself.  My question is this, is

       2       it your position that the long distance service that is

       3       described in 6.1.3.A.1 of your price list constitutes

       4       telephone toll service?

       5                 MR. SLOAN:  I object.  The tariff speaks for

       6       itself.  It says it is a long distance dialing

       7       capability.

       8                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  The witness can answer.  You

       9       may proceed.

      10       BY MR. WAHLEN:

      11            Q.   If she knows.

      12            A.   Well, it's not this particular definition.

      13            Q.   So you don't -- I know you're not a lawyer,

      14       but you're a regulatory person, and so you don't think

      15       that the long distance service described in 6.1.3.A.1

      16       constitutes telephone toll service as defined in

      17       Section 153(48) of the Telecommunications Act?

      18            A.   No.  It's long distance dialing capability.

      19       There is no separate -- there is no separate toll charge

      20       for the in-state capability provided with the service.

      21            Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  Let's talk now about local

      22       interconnection service, the LIS.

      23                 Before we go to LIS, you said there was no

      24       separate charge for intrastate.  Is there a separate

      25       charge for interstate?
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       1            A.   If you're referring to the LIS service?

       2            Q.   No, for the channelized exchange service.

       3            A.   I'm not entirely sure.  I would have to read

       4       through the whole tariff.

       5            Q.   Okay.  Let's move on.  Local interconnection

       6       service, LIS.  This is a service you provide to

       7       interconnected VoIP providers, is that correct?

       8            A.   Yes.  That's provided to interconnected VoIP

       9       providers.

      10            Q.   And how long has Comcast Phone been offering

      11       this service?

      12            A.   Well, Comcast Phone has been offering the

      13       service for quite sometime, but the price list in

      14       Florida was filed in August of last year.

      15            Q.   Could you be a little more specific?  When you

      16       mean quite sometime, is that five years, two years, do

      17       you know?

      18            A.   For several years.

      19            Q.   Several being three or several being seven?

      20            A.   For about three years.

      21            Q.   Okay.  So the LIS has been offered by Comcast

      22       Phone in Florida for three years, and at this time you

      23       have three customers under that tariff, is that correct?

      24            A.   That is correct.

      25            Q.   And isn't it true that all of those customers
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       1       are affiliates of Comcast Phone?

       2            A.   That's correct, but Comcast makes the service

       3       available to any similarly situated providers.  And it's

       4       my understanding that there are over 20 providers or

       5       more that have statewide video franchises and have cable

       6       facilities that would be capable of taking the service.

       7            Q.   But none of them have taken it in three years,

       8       is that correct?

       9            A.   As of yet, none have taken the service.

      10            Q.   Okay.  And when did you file the price list

      11       for LIS?  When did Comcast Phone file the price list for

      12       LIS?

      13            A.   According to this sheet it was August 21st of

      14       2008.

      15            Q.   Okay.  I'd like to call your attention to --

      16       and Mr. McCabe is going to hand this out just for ease

      17       of reference -- Section 7.1.13, which is the rates and

      18       charges section of the local interconnection service

      19       price list.  And for the record, that has been included

      20       as Page 14 of Exhibit DDM-04, which I believe will be

      21       part of Mr. Meredith's Exhibit Number 3.  Do you have

      22       that?

      23            A.   I do.

      24            Q.   And this is the page that sets forth the rates

      25       and charges for your local interconnection service?
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       1            A.   It does.  I am not sure it is all the rates

       2       and charges, but it does set forth some.

       3            Q.   Well, are there more outlined in the tariff

       4       for the local interconnection service?

       5            A.   If you will give me one minute.  I am just

       6       looking to make sure, since this page is provided

       7       separately.  No, I don't see any other rates.

       8            Q.   Okay.  Now there where it says local

       9       interconnection service nonrecurring charge, ICB, what

      10       does ICB mean?

      11            A.   ICB means individual case basis.

      12            Q.   Okay.  And while your price list -- well, your

      13       price list also indicates that the charge, the monthly

      14       rate charge for any band width other than T-1 is also

      15       ICB, or individual case basis, is that correct?

      16            A.   Yes, it does.

      17            Q.   And does that mean that you negotiate an

      18       individual price with any customer that wants to take

      19       the service based on the facts and circumstances of the

      20       customer?

      21            A.   Yes, it does.  And I might point out that this

      22       is extremely common in these types of arrangements where

      23       there are contract services.  And, in fact, TDS has the

      24       same type of individual case basis pricing in its

      25       contract services tariff.
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       1            Q.   Well, you mentioned Quincy's tariff.  Have you

       2       looked at Quincy's tariff?

       3            A.   I have looked at a section of its contract

       4       services.

       5            Q.   Have you looked at its entire tariff?

       6            A.   No, I have not.

       7            Q.   But you have looked at the tariffs of other

       8       local exchange companies, correct?

       9            A.   Yes, I have looked at them.  I have not

      10       memorized them.

      11            Q.   Sure.  And I just want to make a general

      12       point.  You would agree, subject to check, that Quincy's

      13       tariff is full of prices for individual services that

      14       you can go to and look at and see what the price is for

      15       a particular service?

      16            A.   Well, I really can't tell you that.  I have

      17       looked at its contract services, which mentions ICB

      18       pricing.  I have looked at the fact that it adopts

      19       BellSouth's access tariff, which is replete with

      20       individual case basis pricing.  If there's other pricing

      21       in other sections of the Quincy tariffs, and you are

      22       telling me that, I will take your word for that.

      23            Q.   Okay.  Here's the question.  If a customer of

      24       an interconnected VoIP provider wants to find out what

      25       it's going to cost them to get local interconnection
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       1       service from Comcast Phone IP, or Comcast Phone, there

       2       is no publicly available document they could go to and

       3       find the prices, could they?

       4            A.   Well, they would simply contact Comcast,

       5       and -- and we would discuss that pricing for them,

       6       depending upon what the needs, the configuration of

       7       their service is.  And, in fact, that is why there's no

       8       pricing here.  The LIS service is not a cookie cutter

       9       service.  It's meant to be -- it is meant to be provided

      10       with features and functions that are needed by the

      11       particular interconnected VoIP provider who is taking

      12       the service.  And that's why it is a contract based

      13       service.

      14            Q.   Okay.  But I just want to make sure, I don't

      15       think you answered my question.  There is no publicly

      16       available document that an interconnected VoIP provider

      17       could look to to find out what it would cost them to

      18       take the LIS service from Comcast Phone?

      19            A.   Well, if you're talking about Comcast Phone of

      20       Florida specifically, no.  If you are talking about

      21       Comcast Phone's similarly situated CLEC affiliates in

      22       other states who also offer and provide the LIS service,

      23       certain states do require that we have pricing for a

      24       basic arrangement in the tariffs.

      25            Q.   But you have not elected to do that in

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                     86

       1       Florida?

       2            A.   No, we don't believe that's required in

       3       Florida.

       4            Q.   Okay.  Last line of questions.  During your

       5       summary you mentioned that there was a small carrier in

       6       Vermont that in addition to TDS was challenging

       7       Comcast's ability to interconnect under the

       8       Telecommunications Act.  Do you remember that?

       9            A.   Yes, I do.

      10            Q.   Were you involved in that proceeding?

      11            A.   Yes, I was.

      12            Q.   Are you still?

      13            A.   To some degree.  It's mostly handed over to

      14       attorneys.

      15            Q.   But you are familiar with what's going on

      16       there?

      17            A.   I have some familiarity with that, yes.

      18            Q.   Are you aware that the Vermont Public Service

      19       Board has recently decided to look at whether Comcast

      20       Phone is providing services on a common carrier basis?

      21            A.   No, I would not characterize what is going on

      22       in that manner.

      23            Q.   Well, how would you characterize it, then?

      24            A.   Well, first of all, I think it's important to

      25       point out that the Vermont Public Service Board has
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       1       found Comcast Phone of Vermont, Comcast Phone of

       2       Florida's similarly situated affiliate, they have found

       3       it to be a telecommunications carrier; they have found

       4       it to be entitled to interconnection.  That has not been

       5       overturned.

       6                 The way I would characterize it is that the

       7       board is looking at the service that Comcast Phone of

       8       Vermont provides to its affiliate and whether that

       9       offering is general enough.  They are looking at the

      10       terms and conditions of that offering.  And I will point

      11       out, also, that because Comcast Phone of Vermont, who is

      12       similarly situated to Comcast Phone of Florida, is also

      13       a common carrier and regulated by the Vermont Public

      14       Service Board.  We are working with that Commission to

      15       ensure that they are satisfied with the terms and

      16       conditions of that service, just as we would be bound

      17       and required to work with this Commission here if there

      18       were any issues with respect to our services in the

      19       state of Florida.

      20            Q.   So it's true, isn't it, that part of the

      21       inquiry in Vermont is whether Comcast Phone is offering

      22       services on a nondiscriminatory basis that a potential

      23       non-affiliated customer could reasonably purchase, is

      24       that part of it?

      25            A.   Well, again, I wouldn't put it that way.  They
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       1       are looking at the particular contract between the

       2       affiliate, and whether the terms of those -- whether the

       3       terms of that contract are broad enough that they

       4       disclose all terms and conditions of the offer.  And

       5       that's my understanding of what the nature of that

       6       inquiry is.

       7                 MR. WAHLEN:  Okay.  I believe I'm finished.

       8       Thank you.

       9                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Thank you.

      10                 Commissioners, I'm going to go to staff unless

      11       you have some questions right now.  I can always come

      12       back to the bench, but I'm going to go to staff right

      13       now.

      14                 Staff, you're recognized.

      15                 MS. BROOKS:  We have one question, Chairman,

      16       for the witness.

      17                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  You're recognized.

      18                          CROSS EXAMINATION

      19       BY MS. BROOKS:

      20            Q.   Ms. Choroser?

      21            A.   Yes.

      22            Q.   Okay.  My question is -- I understand that you

      23       are not an attorney, so we are not looking for a legal

      24       opinion.  But I would like to get your take on the

      25       recent change to Chapter 364 of the Florida Statute,
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       1       which staff is now handing out.  And, specifically, I am

       2       going to give you a copy of 364.013, which now includes

       3       language regarding interconnection between CLECs and

       4       ILECs, "regardless of the technology by which the voice

       5       traffic is originated and terminated to an end user."

       6       Do you see that language on Lines 155 through 165?  I'll

       7       give you a minute to read it.

       8            A.   Okay.  Yes, I do see the language.

       9            Q.   What impact, if any, do you think this

      10       provision has on this docket?

      11            A.   Well, I think that this language makes it very

      12       clear that exactly what Comcast Phone is asking for here

      13       is cared for under this very language.

      14                 MS. BROOKS:  Thank you, Chairman.

      15                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Thank you.  Commissioners.

      16                 Okay.  Redirect.

      17                 MR. SLOAN:  We have none.

      18                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Okay.  Let's take up the

      19       exhibits.

      20                 MR. HORTON:  We would move Exhibit 2,

      21       Mr. Chairman.

      22                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Are there any objections?

      23                 MR. WAHLEN:  No objection.

      24                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Without objection, show it

      25       done.
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       1                 (Exhibit Number 2 admitted into the record.)

       2                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  We did direct and we did

       3       rebuttal with this witness --

       4                 MR. HORTON:  Yes, sir.

       5                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  -- so we are completed?

       6                 MR. HORTON:  We are completed.

       7                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Thank you.  You may be

       8       excused.

       9                 MR. HORTON:  Thank you, sir.

      10                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  You may call your witness.

      11                 MR. WAHLEN:  Very well.  TDS --

      12                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Hang on a second.

      13                 MR. SLOAN:  Can we take a short break?

      14                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  You need a break?  Okay,

      15       everybody, let's take -- the clock on the wall, let's

      16       come back at five of.  We will give the court reporter a

      17       break, as well.  We are on recess.

      18                 (Recess.)

      19                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  We are back on the record.

      20                 And when we left you were calling your

      21       witness.  You're recognized.

      22                 MR. WAHLEN:  Yes, sir.  Quincy Telephone calls

      23       Douglas Meredith.

      24                       DOUGLAS DUNCAN MEREDITH

      25       was called as a witness on behalf of Quincy Telephone
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       1       Company, and having been duly sworn, testified as

       2       follows:

       3                          DIRECT EXAMINATION

       4       BY MR. WAHLEN:

       5            Q.   Would you please state your name and business

       6       address?

       7            A.   My full name is Douglas Duncan Meredith.  My

       8       business address is 547 Oak View Lane, Bountiful, Utah,

       9       84010.

      10            Q.   And on whose behalf are you testifying in this

      11       proceeding?

      12            A.   Quincy Telephone Company, d/b/a TDS Telecom.

      13            Q.   Mr. Meredith, did you prepare and cause to be

      14       filed in this case prepared direct testimony consisting

      15       of 36 pages?

      16            A.   Yes.

      17            Q.   Do you have any changes or corrections to that

      18       direct testimony?

      19            A.   No.

      20            Q.   If I were to ask you the questions contained

      21       in your prepared direct testimony today, would your

      22       answers be the same as those in your prepared direct

      23       testimony?

      24            A.   Yes.

      25                 MR. WAHLEN:  Mr. Chairman, Quincy would

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                     92

       1       request that the prepared direct testimony of Douglas

       2       Meredith be inserted into the record as though read.

       3                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  The prefiled testimony of

       4       the witness will be inserted into the record as though

       5       read.

       6       BY MR. WAHLEN:

       7            Q.   And, Mr. Meredith, attached to your direct

       8       testimony did you also file exhibits identified as

       9       DDM-01, 02, 03, and 04?

      10            A.   Yes.

      11                 MR. WAHLEN:  Mr. Chairman, I believe that the

      12       staff has preidentified those exhibits as Composite

      13       Exhibit Number 3.

      14                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  For the record, for

      15       identification Exhibit 3.

      16                 (Exhibit Number 3 marked for identification.)

      17                 MR. WAHLEN:  Thank you very much.

      18       BY MR. WAHLEN:

      19            Q.   Mr. Meredith, did you also prepare and cause

      20       to be filed prepared rebuttal testimony in this case

      21       consisting of ten pages?

      22            A.   Yes.

      23            Q.   Any changes or corrections to that testimony?

      24            A.   No.

      25            Q.   If I were to ask you the questions contained
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       1       in your prepared rebuttal testimony, would your answers

       2       be the same?

       3            A.   Yes.

       4                 MR. WAHLEN:  Mr. Chairman, we would request

       5       that the prepared rebuttal testimony of Douglas Meredith

       6       be inserted into the record as though read.

       7                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  The prefiled testimony of

       8       the witness will be inserted into the record as though

       9       read.

      10                 MR. WAHLEN:  Thank you.

      11
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       1       BY MR. WAHLEN:

       2            Q.   Mr. Meredith, would you please summarize your

       3       direct and rebuttal testimony?

       4            A.   Yes, thank you.  Good morning Chairman and

       5       Commissioners.  As you are aware, the single issue in

       6       this arbitration is whether Comcast Phone is entitled to

       7       251/252 interconnection, an agreement with TDS for the

       8       type of traffic that it intends to deliver to TDS for

       9       termination to TDS's customers.

      10                 My recommendation is that this Commission

      11       determine that Comcast Phone is not entitled to this

      12       type of interconnection.  I provide testimony

      13       demonstrating that Comcast Phone is not a

      14       telecommunications carrier for the services it proposes

      15       in support of its position in the TDS Quincy territory.

      16       I also demonstrate that Comcast Phone has not shown that

      17       it will interconnect with TDS for the purpose to

      18       transport and terminate telecommunications traffic.

      19       Thus, Comcast Phone is ineligible to seek 251

      20       interconnection with TDS in its service territory.

      21                 Comcast Phone is not seeking interconnection

      22       with TDS for telecommunication services.  It is,

      23       therefore, consistent with federal law and policy for

      24       the Commission to determine that Comcast Phone is not

      25       eligible for Section 251 interconnection.
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       1                 The provision of Voice over the Internet

       2       Protocol service, or VoIP service has caused federal

       3       regulators to examine the nature of VoIP service and how

       4       it compares with telecommunications service.  The FCC

       5       has undertaken an investigation of IP enabled service

       6       I'm sure you are well aware of which VoIP is a part.

       7       And it has an open proceeding addressing how IP enabled

       8       services are to be regulated.  While this proceeding

       9       continues, the deployment of VoIP technology has caused

      10       the FCC to examine various types of VoIP services to

      11       judge whether they are telecommunication services or

      12       not.

      13                 For fixed VoIP, rather than pneumatic VoIP

      14       like Vonage, the FCC has addressed the rights of

      15       interconnected VoIP providers, including fixed VoIP

      16       service providers.  Since the FCC has not judged

      17       interconnected VoIP to be a telecommunications service,

      18       these providers must use a wholesale provider who

      19       provides telecommunications services in its own right to

      20       interconnect with local exchange carriers under Section

      21       251 of the Act.

      22                 The FCC has emphasized that the rights of a

      23       telecommunications carrier under Section 251 are limited

      24       to those carriers that at a minimum, quote, do, in fact,

      25       provide telecommunications services to their customers,

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                    140

       1       either on a wholesale or a retail basis, unquote.  The

       2       FCC further emphasized that its ruling is, quote,

       3       limited to telecommunications carriers that provide

       4       wholesale telecommunications service and that seek

       5       interconnection in their own right for the purpose of

       6       transmitting this traffic to or from another service

       7       provider, unquote.  And that the scope of its action is,

       8       quote, limited to wholesale carriers that are acting as

       9       telecommunications carriers for purposes of their

      10       interconnection requests, unquote.

      11                 Comcast Phone asserts that it intends to offer

      12       three services in TDS's territory, local interconnection

      13       service, exchange access service provided to

      14       interexchange carriers, and networking services to

      15       school or library customers.  I show that none of these,

      16       in my testimony, services qualify for interconnection

      17       under Section 251.

      18                 Now, even if Comcast were considered to be a

      19       common carrier in TDS's service territory, the traffic

      20       proposed to be delivered by Comcast Phone to TDS through

      21       the Section 251 interconnection arrangement, a very

      22       specific agreement -- arrangement, this traffic is

      23       interconnected VoIP service traffic, which has not been

      24       designated as a telecommunications traffic by the FCC.

      25       The failure to exchange telecommunications traffic
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       1       through a Section 251 interconnection arrangement is not

       2       in compliance, in my judgment, with FCC Regulation

       3       47-CFR 51.100, and does not meet a threshold requirement

       4       for Section 251 interconnection.

       5                 Moreover, this arrangement would overstep the

       6       limits the FCC placed on wholesale service providers in

       7       the Time Warner decision when it referenced -- when it

       8       was talking about the limitations that the FCC imposed

       9       on this type of arrangement, it referenced this

      10       particular rule.  FCC Regulation 51.100 establishes a

      11       telecommunications carrier's general duty pursuant to

      12       251 of the Act, and Subpart B of that rule prescribes

      13       the type of interconnection access granted by one

      14       telecommunications carrier to another telecommunications

      15       carrier that has obtained interconnection pursuant to

      16       251.  In a sense you have to have telecommunications

      17       service before you can put information services on that

      18       particular interconnection arrangement.

      19                 As the interconnection arrangement proposed by

      20       Comcast is used exclusively for the transmission of VoIP

      21       service traffic, which the FCC has not determined is a

      22       telecommunications service and does not contain any

      23       telecommunications traffic generated by Comcast Phone in

      24       its own right, then the proposed arrangement does not

      25       satisfy the FCC regulation, and is not consistent with
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       1       the limitations the FCC placed in its Time Warner

       2       decision.

       3                 Thank you very much.

       4                 MR. WAHLEN:  Mr. Meredith is available for

       5       cross-examination.

       6                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  You're recognized.

       7                          CROSS EXAMINATION

       8       BY MR. SLOAN:

       9            Q.   Good morning, Mr. Meredith.  I guess almost

      10       afternoon, but it's a pleasure to see you again.  This

      11       is the second time that you have testified in a hearing

      12       like this in less than two weeks, isn't that correct?

      13            A.   That's correct.

      14            Q.   And two weeks ago -- two weeks ago tomorrow,

      15       you were appearing for TDS in Georgia, is that correct?

      16            A.   I'm sorry, say again, please.

      17            Q.   Two weeks ago tomorrow, you were appearing on

      18       behalf of TDS affiliates in Georgia before the Georgia

      19       Public Service Commission, isn't that correct?

      20            A.   Yes, it is.

      21            Q.   And I was cross-examining you there, as well?

      22            A.   Yes.

      23            Q.   So these proceedings here in Florida and in

      24       Georgia before that, they are arising from requests that

      25       Comcast affiliates in various states made to TDS seeking
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       1       interconnection with various TDS affiliates in those

       2       states, isn't that correct?

       3            A.   Yes.  Comcast Phone is seeking interconnection

       4       under 251 of the Act, of the Telecommunications Act with

       5       various TDS affiliates in those states.

       6            Q.   Right.  So in addition to Florida and Georgia,

       7       Comcast made a consolidated request seeking negotiations

       8       and interconnection in New Hampshire, Michigan, Indiana,

       9       and Washington, is that correct?

      10            A.   Yes.  But you mentioned that it was

      11       consolidated.  I'm not -- there is one or more TDS

      12       affiliates in those arrangements.  It might only be one

      13       TDS affiliate that's involved.  For instance, in

      14       Washington my recollection is there is only one TDS

      15       affiliate that's involved with the arrangement with

      16       Comcast.

      17            Q.   Thank you.  When I meant consolidated, I meant

      18       that there was one TDS negotiator, Ms. Lawrence

      19       (phonetic), I believe, primarily responsible with

      20       representing the TDS affiliates in those states and her

      21       primary contact were folks at Comcast, including

      22       Ms. Choroser, is that correct?

      23            A.   Subject to check, yes.

      24            Q.   Okay.  And those discussions began in April of

      25       2008, is that correct?
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       1            A.   I wouldn't have knowledge of that.

       2            Q.   So you weren't involved in the negotiations

       3       then?

       4            A.   No, I was not.

       5            Q.   When did you get involved?

       6            A.   TDS inquired, or engaged John Staurulakis,

       7       Incorporated, the consulting firm I work for, to help

       8       with various matters relating to the testimony, relating

       9       to the policy issues that arose after it -- it, meaning

      10       TDS, recognized the -- or was made aware of the

      11       discontinuance filings that Comcast filed at the FCC.

      12                 MR. SLOAN:  Commissioners and Chairman, I

      13       would like to mark as Comcast Exhibit 1 the

      14       interconnection agreement that the parties negotiated,

      15       and that is accompanied to Comcast's petition in this

      16       proceeding.  Exhibit 4, excuse me.  Comcast Exhibit 4.

      17                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Give us a short title, a

      18       description, please.  Just a short title.

      19                 MR. SLOAN:  Proposed Interconnection

      20       Agreement.

      21                 (Exhibit Number 4 marked for identification.)

      22                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Okay.  You may proceed.

      23       BY MR. SLOAN:

      24            Q.   Mr. Meredith, this is the document that

      25       Ms. Choroser, and her staff, and Ms. Lawrence and her
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       1       staff negotiated, isn't that correct?

       2            A.   Is this the agreement that was attached to the

       3       petition for arbitration?

       4            Q.   Yes, it is.

       5            A.   Yes.  Yes, that's my understanding.  This is a

       6       draft of an agreement that the parties have been working

       7       on.  And then the issue of, the issue of dispute in this

       8       particular proceeding arose and stopped that process for

       9       this document.

      10            Q.   Is it your understanding that all other terms

      11       and conditions, other than the open language in

      12       Section 3.1 of the agreement regarding Comcast Phone's

      13       telecommunications carrier status, that all of the other

      14       conditions have been resolved through negotiations?

      15            A.   I see on Page 2, the table of contents, its

      16       regulatory authority that refers to Page 44.  Is that

      17       what you are referring to?  That is the only item

      18       that's -- as I recall there was some red line in the

      19       first part of the document.

      20            Q.   On Page 13.

      21            A.   Yes.  That's the red line that I recall

      22       seeing.  I believe that red line deals with the issue

      23       that is at bar today.

      24            Q.   Thank you.

      25            A.   There are some other -- obviously, some
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       1       typographic or scrivener's errors in the document.  For

       2       example, on Page 3 or 4, there is a blackout or a

       3       redacted piece.  On Page 2 there's a red line that would

       4       be corrected, I'm sure, if the document were to be

       5       finalized.

       6            Q.   Thank you.  I would like to direct your

       7       attention to Page 11 of your direct testimony.  And when

       8       you're there, please let me know and I will ask you a

       9       question.

      10            A.   Yes.  Page 11, direct.

      11            Q.   Now, this is part of a discussion about the

      12       services that Comcast Phone is going to be offering.

      13       And then on Page 11, Line 4, you assert that

      14       consequently this arbitration highlights important

      15       issues related to how VoIP services are treated in

      16       Florida, and whether private carriers that provide

      17       transport for VoIP retail service are entitled to

      18       interconnect with incumbent carriers without providing

      19       any telecommunications services that necessitate a

      20       Section 251 interconnection agreement with those

      21       carriers.  Do you see that?

      22            A.   Yes.

      23            Q.   Now, are you aware, Mr. Meredith, that the

      24       Florida Legislature has already decided on the

      25       regulatory treatment of VoIP services in Florida?
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       1            A.   In what context?

       2            Q.   Are you aware that the Florida Legislature has

       3       deregulated the provision of VoIP services in Florida?

       4            A.   Are you referring to a particular piece of

       5       legislation that the Legislature has passed and the

       6       Governor has signed recently?

       7            Q.   Not recently actually, no.  Are you aware of

       8       the regulatory status of VoIP services in Florida, Mr.

       9       Meredith, yes or no?

      10            A.   No.

      11            Q.   Are you familiar with the National Cable

      12       Telecommunications Association, NCTA?

      13            A.   Yes.  I'm aware of them, yes.

      14            Q.   Now, I was on the NCTA website the other day,

      15       and it said that NCTA -- NCTA is the association of

      16       cable providers.  Does that comport with your

      17       understanding?

      18            A.   Yes, NCTA is a national cable association.

      19            Q.   One of the national cable associations?

      20            A.   (Indicating affirmatively.)

      21            Q.   And according to -- I was on their website the

      22       other day, and it said that their members had 20 million

      23       Voice over Internet Protocol customers.  Does that sound

      24       like a number that might be right to you?

      25            A.   I wouldn't have -- I don't know.  I did not
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       1       visit the website.

       2            Q.   But would customers in the United States that

       3       are served by cable companies -- let's accept the

       4       20 million figure that is on the NCTA website -- they

       5       are all served, or most of them are served, by

       6       arrangements such as the one that Comcast Phone seeks

       7       today, is that not correct?

       8            A.   No, I don't think so.  My understanding of the

       9       agreement that we are talking about today is an

      10       individual agreement between two Comcast companies.  I

      11       believe, for example, like Time Warner, which is another

      12       very large cable company, has agreements, third-party

      13       agreements with third-party telecommunications carriers

      14       such as Sprint, who is a telecommunications carrier in

      15       their own right and handles telecommunications traffic.

      16       And so the arrangement here is unique.  The arrangement

      17       here is between two very, very close affiliates or

      18       sibling companies of Comcast Corporation.

      19            Q.   So the distinction then is that in the one

      20       case companies like Time Warner and perhaps others are

      21       served by separate companies -- they receive PSTN

      22       interconnection from third-party providers; whereas, in

      23       this case Comcast Phone is seeking PSTN interconnection

      24       through an affiliate.  Is that the distinction that you

      25       see?
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       1            A.   I see that as one, but let me emphasize the

       2       distinction I've made is that those -- when Time Warner

       3       uses Sprint, it's following the declaration of the FCC

       4       in the Time Warner decision, because it is using a

       5       telecommunications carrier who provides

       6       telecommunications services in its own right and

       7       interconnects with local exchange carriers.  That's one

       8       of the distinctions.

       9            Q.   Now, the Time Warner case, that is something

      10       that you have talked about a fair amount.  That arose

      11       from a petition for declaratory ruling that Time Warner

      12       filed with the FCC, isn't that correct?

      13            A.   Yes, it is.  Time Warner asked for

      14       clarification from the FCC dealing with the ability of

      15       Time Warner to interconnect or to provide services

      16       through third parties.  Two issues came to the floor.

      17       One was a South Carolina matter, and another was, I

      18       believe, a Nebraska matter.  Both of those came to the

      19       FCC jointly.

      20            Q.   And the issue was that the incumbent local

      21       exchange carriers of South Carolina and Nebraska were

      22       refusing to enter into interconnection agreements with

      23       Sprint, isn't that correct?

      24            A.   No.  The issue was that those public service

      25       commissions in those two states you referenced had made
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       1       determinations based upon the facts in their very

       2       specific cases that were addressed that said that the

       3       local exchange carriers did not have to interconnect.

       4            Q.   And the FCC went on to rule that wholesale

       5       carriers like Sprint were entitled to obtain

       6       interconnection with incumbent carriers and reversed the

       7       decisions in South Carolina and -- preempted the

       8       decisions in South Carolina and Nebraska that you are

       9       referring to, isn't that correct?

      10            A.   No, it's not quite.  The FCC bureau chief made

      11       a decision, not at the Commission level, but at the

      12       delegated authority level.  The declaratory ruling was

      13       signed by the bureau chief, and he, or the FCC then,

      14       because of that ruling, said that a wholesale provider

      15       can, indeed, deliver interconnected VoIP traffic to

      16       local exchange carriers through that -- through that

      17       wholesale arrangement provided that the limitations that

      18       I mentioned in my introductory statements and in my

      19       testimony are adhered to.

      20            Q.   Are you suggesting, Mr. Meredith, that the

      21       delegated authority to the bureau chief makes this a

      22       less binding than the Time Warner declaratory ruling,

      23       less binding --

      24            A.   No.

      25            Q.   -- than if it were issued by the full
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       1       Commission?

       2            A.   No.  I'm just trying to make sure that we

       3       all agree where it came from and what the issues were.

       4            Q.   Thank you very much.  I'm going to read to

       5       you -- I don't have copies of the order to pass around,

       6       but let me read to you the first sentence of the first

       7       paragraph of that order.  It says, "In this order, the

       8       Wireline Competition Bureau grants a petition for

       9       declaratory ruling filed by Time Warner Cable asking the

      10       Commission to declare that wholesale telecommunications

      11       carriers are entitled to interconnect and exchange

      12       traffic with incumbent local exchange carriers, with

      13       LECs, when providing services to other service

      14       providers, including Voice over Internet Protocol, VoIP

      15       service providers, pursuant to Sections 251(a) and (b)

      16       of the Communications Act of 1934 as amended."

      17                 Does that comport with language that you

      18       recall reading in this order?

      19            A.   Yes.  That language is there in the first

      20       paragraph, but I think we need to read the entire

      21       document, because there are limitations the FCC imposed

      22       or placed, and conditions, essentially, that they put on

      23       that are not reflective of that preamble paragraph that

      24       you just read.

      25            Q.   Thank you, Mr. Meredith.
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       1                 Paragraph 9 of that order, I'm going to read

       2       that, as well.

       3                 "Consistent with Commission precedent, we find

       4       that the Act does not differentiate between the

       5       provision of telecommunications services on a wholesale

       6       or retail basis."

       7                 Paragraphs 11 of the order.  The first

       8       sentence, "It is clear under the Commission's precedent

       9       that the definition of telecommunications services is

      10       not limited to retail services, but also includes

      11       wholesale services when offered on a common carrier

      12       basis."

      13                 Paragraph 12, the first --

      14                 MR. WAHLEN:  Excuse me.  If he's going to ask

      15       the witness about this, he ought to have a chance to

      16       look at it, or if he is just reading it --

      17                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  I think where he was going

      18       was he asked him was he familiar with it, and he was

      19       asking him whether or not he agreed with it, and he said

      20       he didn't.  He said that -- I think the witness' answer

      21       precipitated him going further with that.  So let's

      22       allow it for now.

      23                 MR. WAHLEN:  Okay.

      24       BY MR. SLOAN:

      25            Q.   Only one more.  Paragraph 12, first sentence.
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       1       Do you have a copy of the order in front of you, Mr.

       2       Meredith?

       3            A.   No, I do not.

       4            Q.   Okay.  Paragraph 12, "The definition of

       5       telecommunications services in the Act does not specify

       6       whether those services are retail or wholesale."

       7                 Now, I am struck by all of these, at least

       8       four references, and I am especially struck when I

       9       compare them to page -- to some of your testimony.  Why

      10       don't you turn to Page 13 of your direct testimony, if

      11       you would?

      12            A.   Yes.

      13            Q.   Okay.  There is a question based on these

      14       FCC's statements, and these are the preceding two or

      15       three pages contain your analysis of Time Warner, which

      16       you have shared with us this morning.  Based on these

      17       FCC statements, do you agree that Comcast Phone has not

      18       provided -- has not proved it is a telecommunications

      19       carrier offering and providing telecommunications

      20       services in TDS's service area.  That's the question, is

      21       that correct?

      22            A.   Yes, that is the question on Page 12.

      23            Q.   And now on Page 14 you answer that question,

      24       am I right?

      25            A.   Yes, I do.
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       1            Q.   Let's go through that answer just for a little

       2       bit.  "Yes."  It is a hard question to follow, but you

       3       say -- you are answering the question, yes, Comcast

       4       Phone has not proved that it's a telecommunications

       5       carrier.  You say, yes, Comcast has failed to prove

       6       that.  And then skipping down to Line 5 you say, "For

       7       example, in Interrogatory Number 7, Comcast Phone was

       8       asked to describe the retail local exchange services

       9       that will be provided within TDS's service territory.

      10       Comcast Phone objected to this question, and then stated

      11       it will offer telecommunications services without

      12       describing whether these services would be retail.

      13       Comcast Phone refused to describe any retail local

      14       exchange service it would be providing."

      15                 Skip down to Line 21, "Without providing a

      16       retail local exchange service, there will not be any

      17       telecommunications traffic exchanged subject to

      18       Section 251 that requires a Section 251 interconnection

      19       agreement."  Is that correct?  So your testimony here --

      20                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Hand on a second.  Hold on;

      21       hold the phone.  Give him a chance to answer.  You can

      22       answer yes or no, and you are entitled to explain your

      23       answer.

      24                 MR. SLOAN:  My question was is that in his

      25       testimony, and if I had read it accurately.

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                    155

       1                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Well, you are reading

       2       portions of his testimony.  In all fairness, give the

       3       man an opportunity to respond.  Okay.

       4                 MR. SLOAN:  Thank you, Chairman.

       5                 THE WITNESS:  What you read and identified is

       6       correct.  However, you're taking things quite a bit out

       7       of context.  When you referred, for example, in the Time

       8       Warner decision, you read Paragraphs 10, 11, and 12, but

       9       then when the FCC imposes the limitations in that Time

      10       Warner decision in Paragraphs 14 and 16, for example,

      11       that are identified on Page 12 of my testimony, we

      12       didn't talk about those.

      13                 And so read the entire document in context.

      14       You get a declaration by the FCC saying you can do this

      15       provided you follow the limitations and the constraints

      16       that are imposed upon this type of a service.  Then in

      17       dealing with the answer on Page 13 and -- the question

      18       on Page 13, and the response on Page 14, if we read the

      19       entire document in its context, I think we get what I --

      20       well, we do, we get exactly what I was attempting to

      21       explain.  Taking pieces in and out, I don't know if it

      22       serves a purpose, but I will go with you wherever you

      23       want to go.

      24       BY MR. SLOAN:

      25            Q.   I really appreciate that.  Thank you.
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       1                 So what you are saying now is that we can

       2       disregard all the stuff in your testimony about how

       3       Comcast Phone is not entitled to interconnection based

       4       on the fact that it doesn't offer -- that it purportedly

       5       does not offer retail telecommunications services.  And

       6       instead, as I understand your testimony, we should

       7       instead focus on the nature of the services and the

       8       nature of the traffic that Comcast Phone is seeking to

       9       exchange?

      10            A.   No, not at all.  What I described --

      11       apparently I didn't do a very good job.  On Page 14,

      12       Line 1, through Page 15, Line 3, is my response to the

      13       question on Page 13.

      14                 I encourage the Commissioners to look at that

      15       entire response, not excerpts of those responses in

      16       order to understand what I was saying.

      17            Q.   When you said you didn't do a good job, are

      18       you saying you didn't do a good job in your written

      19       testimony or in the testimony that you are giving here?

      20            A.   Mr. Sloan, when I was just describing this,

      21       when I was describing what is on Page 14, I apparently

      22       didn't clarify enough for your understanding to say that

      23       I would like the Commission to read the entire Page 14,

      24       and the three lines on Page 15 in response to the

      25       question on Page 13.
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       1            Q.   Thank you.

       2                 Now, the limitations that you say Time Warner

       3       imposes apply -- require carriers seeking

       4       interconnection to provide services in its own right, is

       5       that correct?

       6            A.   That's what the FCC says at least once,

       7       possibly two or three times in its order, yes.

       8            Q.   And then the FCC goes on to cite Section

       9       51.100 of its rule, is that correct?

      10            A.   Yes.  When it's discussing this limitation, or

      11       the limitations that the FCC is imposing on this

      12       arrangement, it describes it, and it cites 51.100, you

      13       know, in the order.  It describes it in the footnote.

      14            Q.   And you quote Section 51.100 on Page 30 of

      15       your testimony.  Do you want to take a minute to turn to

      16       that and get situated, and then I'll ask you a question.

      17            A.   Yes.  On Page 30 of my direct I cite the

      18       Subpart B of the FCC's Regulation 51.100.

      19            Q.   And it says a -- Section B, or Section E, I'm

      20       sorry, I didn't hear you.

      21            A.   B as in boy.

      22            Q.   Thank you.  It says that a telecommunications

      23       carrier that has interconnected or gained access under

      24       Sections 251(a)(1), 251(c)(2), or 251(c)(3) of the Act

      25       may offer information services through the same
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       1       arrangement so long as it is offering telecommunications

       2       services through these same arrangements, as well.  That

       3       is the regulation.

       4                 Now, if a carrier seeking interconnection is

       5       not providing any information services through the

       6       arrangement, is Section 51.100 relevant to this case?

       7            A.   Well, the hypothetical is if they are

       8       providing telecommunications services --

       9            Q.   Let me broaden -- I'm sorry.  Thank you.  Let

      10       me broaden the hypothetical.

      11                 Let's say that a carrier seeking

      12       interconnection is not providing -- generically is not

      13       providing information services.  Then does

      14       Section 51.100 of the rules have any relevance to the

      15       interconnecting carrier's rights and duties?

      16            A.   Yes, it does, because the rule still applies.

      17       And the way -- there was a case in Texas, the Fitch case

      18       that went to the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals, and the

      19       Fifth Circuit looked at this very carefully, this

      20       particular rule.  And essentially said, if I can

      21       summarize it, it said a carrier offering

      22       telecommunication services through a 251 interconnection

      23       arrangement may use the excess capacity of that

      24       interconnection arrangement for information service.  So

      25       it's only the -- and they can't go and get more capacity
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       1       for the information service piece.  So the Fifth Circuit

       2       has described this particular rule as saying a carrier

       3       that interconnects for telecommunications service may

       4       use that same interconnection arrangement for

       5       information services if there is excess capacity.

       6            Q.   Mr. Meredith, my hypothetical asked you to

       7       assume that the carrier was not providing any

       8       information services.

       9            A.   Going in the future, I am expanding saying

      10       that would still apply.

      11            Q.   You didn't answer my question.  So if the

      12       carrier seeking interconnection is not providing

      13       information services, does 51.100 impose any limitations

      14       on its rights to interconnect and exchange

      15       telecommunications traffic?

      16            A.   That is a different question than you asked,

      17       and the answer is no on that one.

      18            Q.   Thank you.  And the other limitation that you

      19       cite is the requirement that the interconnecting carrier

      20       be seeking interconnection and exchanging traffic in its

      21       own right.  Am I correct?

      22            A.   Yes.  I identify that in my direct testimony

      23       back to where we were generally, on pages -- when I

      24       described the Time Warner decision on Pages 11 through

      25       13 and 14.
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       1            Q.   Mr. Meredith, I will concede to you that the

       2       Time Warner order does contain that language, but I'm

       3       trying to explore the significance that you place on

       4       that language.  So the carrier seeking interconnection

       5       in its own right under your view requires that a carrier

       6       seek to -- this is a question.  Does it mean that the

       7       carrier seeking interconnection and traffic exchange

       8       that it must be providing telecommunications services to

       9       its customers, and that that traffic is, therefore,

      10       traffic that it is providing in its own right?

      11            A.   No.  The wholesale provider or an intermediary

      12       carrier can be providing telecommunications services

      13       that don't generate traffic that goes through the

      14       interconnection arrangement.  Special access, for

      15       example, could be -- could be delivered.  Paragraph 16

      16       of the Time Warner order says that they have to seek

      17       interconnection in their own right for the purpose of

      18       transmitting that traffic to or from another service

      19       provider.  So not only -- if we're talking about the

      20       traffic going through that interconnection arrangement,

      21       that has to be telecommunications service before any

      22       other traffic can be used, and you can't get that

      23       interconnection arrangement for non-telecommunications

      24       traffic.

      25            Q.   And how do you define whether traffic is
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       1       telecommunications traffic or not?  That's the only open

       2       question I'm going to ask you today, so run with it.

       3            A.   Okay.  Well, that's a very good question.

       4       Telecommunications traffic, telecommunications, and

       5       telecommunications service is defined in the Act and it

       6       governs on the Act.  VoIP, interconnected VoIP service

       7       traffic is not -- has not been determined to be

       8       telecommunications traffic.  The FCC has, I think, taken

       9       great pains not to make that decision as of yet due to

      10       the various nature of the IP-enabled services docket

      11       that's open.

      12                 What we have here is Comcast is attempting to

      13       say that a VoIP service provider, a call that is VoIP,

      14       that starts out as VoIP, once it reaches Comcast Phone's

      15       network magically turns into telecommunications traffic.

      16       And I reject that interpretation, and I recommend that

      17       the Commission reject that interpretation.

      18                 VoIP, interconnected VoIP traffic stays

      19       interconnected VoIP traffic through the duration of the

      20       transmission from the end user customer initiating that

      21       call to the terminating point, wherever that terminating

      22       point is, be it on PSTN or on another VoIP network.  So

      23       at bottom in this particular proceeding, we have all

      24       this VoIP, interconnected VoIP telecommunications

      25       traffic -- or VoIP traffic that's not telecommunications
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       1       traffic, and this particular issue rises that we are

       2       saying, hey, 51.100 is not being applied.  I mean, we

       3       are not actually seeing any telecommunications traffic

       4       coming through that specific interconnection

       5       arrangement, and so you don't -- you're not eligible for

       6       251 interconnection.

       7            Q.   So you're focusing on the nature of the

       8       traffic -- you're focusing on the traffic that the VoIP

       9       provider is providing to its customers, not the service

      10       that Comcast Phone is providing to the VoIP provider, is

      11       that correct?

      12            A.   There are two prongs to my direct testimony.

      13       One deals with the common carrier nature of Comcast and

      14       whether they are.  In looking at the information, and in

      15       my response to Page 14 going forward, I provide serious

      16       concerns, and my judgment in that particular matter is

      17       they are not a telecommunications carrier in the TDS

      18       Quincy territory.

      19            Q.   Mr. Meredith, if I could interject for just a

      20       second.

      21            A.   Then the second prong -- the second prong

      22       deals with the nature of the traffic.  Even if we had a

      23       common carrier status for Comcast, what actually has to

      24       happen after that.

      25            Q.   Just to amplify that.  So first you said there
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       1       were common carrier issues and then traffic nature

       2       issues -- concerns you have.  When you say the question

       3       of whether or not Comcast is a common carrier, do you

       4       mean -- do you mean that you have questions whether or

       5       not Comcast offerings are, in fact, offered to the

       6       public?  Is that the nature of your concern?

       7            A.   Well, yes.  My testimony speaks for itself.

       8       My concerns are that the three identified services that

       9       Comcast has mentioned in its petition, and through the

      10       discovery that TDS Quincy conducted and received

      11       responses from those questions, in looking at the price

      12       list information that Comcast Phone has, I have serious

      13       question that Comcast Phone is acting as a common

      14       carrier.

      15            Q.   Do you have a copy of the local

      16       interconnection service guide handy?

      17            A.   The local interconnection service guide?

      18            Q.   It is in the -- the local interconnection --

      19       the LIS offering, do you have a copy?

      20            A.   No, I do not.

      21            Q.   Ms. Choroser was questioned about the local

      22       interconnection service offering.  It appears on Page 75

      23       of Comcast Phone's exhibits, and we were asking

      24       questions about it earlier.  Have you seen the local --

      25       you have seen the local interconnection service offer
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       1       before, I take it?

       2            A.   Yes.  I reviewed this particular document,

       3       these pages in preparation for my testimony.

       4            Q.   And this is filed with the Florida Public

       5       Service Commission, is it not?

       6            A.   It is identified as being a Florida price

       7       list.  I don't see a stamp saying that this is an

       8       official document received by the Florida Commission,

       9       but subject to check.

      10            Q.   And it's available for viewing by the public

      11       on Comcast's website, isn't that correct?

      12            A.   I'm sorry.

      13            Q.   It's available for viewing by the public on

      14       Comcast's website, is it not?

      15            A.   Yes.  That's where I obtained a copy.

      16            Q.   Now, if you will take a look at

      17       Section 7.1.3.A of the document which appears on Page

      18       76 of the exhibit?

      19            A.   Yes.

      20            Q.   It says that LIS provides a connection between

      21       a customer's facilities and the public switched

      22       telephone network and related services described herein.

      23       Do you see that?

      24            A.   Yes.

      25            Q.   And let's just move down a little bit to B.
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       1       It says that -- the last sentence of that says that the

       2       company will only accept and deliver traffic in time

       3       division multiplexed, TDM, protocol.  That's what the

       4       tariff says, correct?

       5            A.   Yes.  That is what the price list -- LIS price

       6       list says.  I don't believe it's a tariff in Florida.

       7            Q.   Thank you.

       8                 The definition of telecommunications is the

       9       transmission of information without change, generally

      10       speaking, isn't that correct?

      11            A.   Generally speaking, that's a characterization

      12       of the definition of telecommunications from the

      13       Communications Act.

      14            Q.   So LIS as described here transmits traffic

      15       from its customers, from a point of the customer's

      16       choosing to another point of the customer's choosing,

      17       does it not, as described here?

      18            A.   No.  The customer in this particular document

      19       is, as I understand it we are calling Comcast IP, it's

      20       not the customer that originates -- it's not the end

      21       user that originates the call.

      22            Q.   The end user that originates the call is a

      23       customer of the retail service provider?

      24            A.   In this particular case it's Comcast IP.  We

      25       have an end user that has a retail relationship with
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       1       Comcast IP.  Comcast IP then has a relationship with

       2       Comcast Phone.  This document is a service that defines

       3       customer as the interconnected VoIP service provider,

       4       not the end user that's initiating the call.

       5            Q.   Thank you.  And you have testified that

       6       interconnected VoIP service providers can't obtain

       7       interconnection directly, isn't that correct?  I will

       8       direct you to Page 8 of your direct testimony.

       9            A.   Yes.  Interconnected VoIP service providers

      10       or, I should say, let's be very clear, local exchange

      11       carriers do not have a duty to interconnect with

      12       interconnected VoIP service providers under Section 251

      13       of the Act.

      14            Q.   Now, when Sprint and other carriers are

      15       providing services to interconnected VoIP service

      16       providers, is it your position that that service that

      17       they're providing to the interconnected VoIP service

      18       providers is not a telecommunications service for the

      19       reasons that you have said earlier?

      20            A.   When Sprint offers wholesale service to

      21       interconnected VoIP service providers, the traffic

      22       that -- I hope this answers your question -- the traffic

      23       that the interconnected VoIP service provider delivers

      24       to Sprint and then Sprint delivers on is not

      25       telecommunications traffic.
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       1            Q.   You call that VoIP traffic, is that right?

       2            A.   Well, it is just non-telecommunications

       3       traffic.  It's VoIP-based.

       4            Q.   Is it your position that the reason that

       5       Sprint is able to obtain interconnection is because it's

       6       providing other services, other telecommunications

       7       services to other providers; and, therefore, it obtains

       8       interconnection because of the residual capacity in its

       9       network to serve these interconnected VoIP service

      10       providers?

      11            A.   Well, I know at least in two cases that I'm

      12       familiar with, Sprint was an actual -- working in that

      13       particular area at the same time.  And so they were a

      14       bona fide regular Joe telecommunications carrier

      15       providing telecommunications services, and then this new

      16       wholesale service offering was made available, and they

      17       became the wholesale provider for interconnected VoIP.

      18                 We have to remember that interconnected VoIP

      19       is a fairly new animal in the zoo, and, you know, we

      20       have other carriers that have been around for quite

      21       awhile before then, and Sprint being one of them.

      22            Q.   And you're familiar with the dozen or so cases

      23       involving Sprint's attempt to obtain interconnection

      24       with carriers over the objection of those incumbent

      25       local exchange carriers?

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                    168

       1            A.   Yes.  In those particular cases, the ones that

       2       I'm recalling, those cases were dealing with is Sprint,

       3       indeed, being a -- for the purposes of the

       4       interconnected VoIP service provider, is that a private

       5       carriage agreement or is that a common carriage

       6       agreement.  None of those decisions, as I recall,

       7       addressed this issue of how 51.100 comes into play.

       8            Q.   And you've testified that -- and in all of

       9       those cases Sprint was attempting to enter a new service

      10       territory, was it not?

      11            A.   I don't recall.  I would have to check on

      12       every one of those cases with Sprint.

      13            Q.   Does it make sense as an analytical matter if

      14       a carrier is seeking a new interconnection agreement --

      15       seeking an interconnection agreement with an incumbent

      16       carrier that it is then not, in fact, providing services

      17       ex ante in that service territory?

      18            A.   No.  No.  You can have lots of varieties.  You

      19       could have a situation where Sprint is providing

      20       services, does not need really anything other than -- or

      21       does not need any interconnection with the -- direct

      22       interconnection with the local exchange carrier, because

      23       if two providers are interconnected via the public

      24       switched telephone network, they are interconnected

      25       anyway, so it doesn't really -- it doesn't really come

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                    169

       1       into play.

       2                 The key here is when you have number

       3       portability, for example.  When people want to port

       4       numbers back and forth, then interconnection

       5       arrangements are -- were generally required to make that

       6       effective.  Now, my recollection is that even is now

       7       diluted so that it is much easier to port numbers.

       8            Q.   Let's turn to the LIS.  Now, your other

       9       concern about Comcast Phone's offering is that it is not

      10       common carriage.  I think because -- and I don't want to

      11       mischaracterize your testimony, so I'm sure you will

      12       correct me if I'm wrong -- but because of the way that

      13       the service is offered, the terms and conditions of the

      14       offering, isn't that correct?

      15            A.   Yes.  The service -- yes.  The service offered

      16       by Comcast Phone, the LIS, is very unique.  It's like a

      17       private letter.  Really the only person that is going to

      18       be able to take that service is an affiliate.

      19            Q.   And the reasons -- now, for example, in your

      20       testimony you criticize Section 7.1.1.C.  It says that

      21       upon -- that provision says that upon receipt of a bona

      22       fide request for LIS from a customer, the company will

      23       negotiate in good faith with the customer to enter into

      24       an agreement than effectuates the terms and conditions

      25       set forth in this tariff.
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       1            A.   Yes.  I mentioned that.  I mentioned -- there

       2       is a whole list of observations that I make, and that's

       3       one of them.  I mean, it is identified in 7.1.1.A as an

       4       overview for LIS without much detail.  We talk about,

       5       you know, if somebody is coming to this particular price

       6       list, how do they know if they qualify or not.  In

       7       7.1.1.C, I talk about issues of applicable regulation.

       8       In 7.1.4.A, 7.1.1.5.B, et cetera.  These are listed on

       9       pages -- really essentially starting on Page 19 of my

      10       testimony and continuing on at least to Page 23.

      11            Q.   And your testimony is that, for example, bona

      12       fide is too vague, and so the tariff doesn't provide --

      13       the price list does not provide sufficient detail to

      14       determine what is a bona fide request.  Is that your --

      15       is that your concern?

      16            A.   Yes.  In 7.1.1.C, Charlie, it says upon

      17       receipt of a bona fide request for LIS from a customer,

      18       the company will negotiate in good faith with the

      19       customer to enter into the agreement that effectuates

      20       the terms and conditions set forth in this tariff.  So,

      21       yes, a person -- a carrier, an interconnected VoIP

      22       service provider looking at this, in my judgment, would

      23       say, well, are they going to talk to me or, you know,

      24       what do I have to do in order to get through the door

      25       and start talking.
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       1            Q.   Have you ever negotiated a contract between an

       2       interconnected VoIP service provider and a carrier?

       3            A.   No.  At John Staurulakis, we --

       4            Q.   I asked if you had negotiated such an

       5       agreement.

       6            A.   And I answered no.

       7            Q.   Thank you.

       8            A.   I answered no, and I'm continuing my response.

       9       At John Staurulakis, we have -- we had two point people

      10       that dealt with interconnection agreements.  And in

      11       addition to those point people, we have teams of people

      12       working on various aspects.  So I have never been a

      13       point person for an interconnection agreement, but have

      14       worked on the teams formed by JSI for interconnection.

      15            Q.   Prior to providing the testimony that the term

      16       bona fide was too vague and that the reference to

      17       applicable law was too vague, did you confer with your

      18       experts at John Staurulakis and ask them if those were

      19       terms that were so vague that a prospective

      20       interconnection VoIP service provider would be

      21       discouraged from ordering the service?

      22            A.   We have talked about the nature of what bona

      23       fide means.  Because in the Telecommunications Act the

      24       term bona fide shows up in a very specific context for

      25       rural exemptions.  My company that I work for does a lot
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       1       of work for rural carriers, and so we are very attuned

       2       to those types of words, and there has been dispute as

       3       to what constitutes bona fide in that context.  And so

       4       that, obviously, flowed over into my understanding or my

       5       reading of what bona fide is in this particular guide.

       6                 MR. SLOAN:  I'm going to pass out Comcast

       7       Exhibit 5.

       8                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Okay.  Do you want that

       9       marked for identification?  A short title?

      10                 MR. SLOAN:  Composite Exhibit of Sprint

      11       Tariffs.

      12                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Sprint Tariff exhibit.

      13                 (Exhibit Number 5 marked for identification.)

      14                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Just one second.  (Pause.)

      15                 You may proceed.

      16                 MR. SLOAN:  Thank you.

      17       BY MR. SLOAN:

      18            Q.   Mr. Meredith, this is a composite exhibit that

      19       contains excerpts from Sprint's tariffs offering what it

      20       calls a local interconnection service in four states,

      21       Texas, Illinois, Michigan, and Pennsylvania.  And as I

      22       believe you know from reading Ms. Choroser's testimony,

      23       those are all four states in which this service offering

      24       was found to qualify as a common carrier service.

      25                 Now, if you would, please turn to the top --
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       1       the first tariff is Page 61 -- the first is for Texas,

       2       and if you would turn to what is original Page 61.62,

       3       which is a half dozen or so pages into the composite

       4       exhibit.

       5            A.   61.62, yes.

       6            Q.   And this contains the description of the

       7       service offering that Sprint makes available to

       8       interconnected VoIP service providers.

       9            A.   Is there a question, I'm sorry?

      10            Q.   Not yet.

      11            A.   Okay.

      12            Q.   Now, one of your -- another one of your

      13       concerns about Comcast's local interconnection service

      14       offering is what you claim is vagueness as a result of

      15       ICB pricing, isn't that correct?

      16            A.   Yes.  On Page 21 of my testimony, I describe

      17       that ICB pricing exists, and according to the price

      18       guide can be modified on a one-day notice.

      19            Q.   And would you look at Page 61.64 of the Sprint

      20       tariff.

      21                 MR. WAHLEN:  Mr. Chairman.

      22                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Yes, sir.

      23                 MR. WAHLEN:  I may be a little bit slow on

      24       this.  There has been no testimony to authenticate this

      25       document.  It's hearsay.  I don't think it was included
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       1       in their request for official recognition.

       2                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Go ahead.

       3                 MR. WAHLEN:  He wants to examine about it, and

       4       after it is all over, he is probably going to ask that

       5       it be admitted into the record.  And by then it may be

       6       too late.  So I would like to go ahead and object and

       7       say that we had no notice about this, it was not

       8       included in the request for official recognition, and it

       9       has not been authenticated.

      10                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Okay.  And that will

      11       preserve your objection.  And what we will do is when we

      12       get to the point of determining whether or not it will

      13       be admitted, we will deal with it at that point in time.

      14                 MR. WAHLEN:  Thank you.

      15                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Ms. Helton.

      16                 MS. HELTON:  Yes, sir.  Perhaps, though -- I

      17       am concerned about Mr. Wahlen's concern about

      18       authentication, and I'm wondering how we can

      19       authenticate these documents.

      20                 MR. SLOAN:  Well, these are -- well, the

      21       tariff that a carrier files with a state commission is a

      22       government -- it's effectively a government document

      23       that is self-authenticating, and they are available for

      24       inspection on Sprint's website, which is where they were

      25       obtained.  I believe that under any applicable hearsay
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       1       rule they would be admitted over a hearsay objection.

       2                 I was also told that Sprint -- that tariffs

       3       are not the sort of document that make their way into

       4       official recognition documents.  And so as a result, in

       5       negotiations with -- discussions with staff, I do not

       6       believe that the tariffs that we officially asked for

       7       recognition were included in the list of officially

       8       recognized documents.

       9                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Before we go any further,

      10       let me do this:  I'm going to take five and consult with

      11       counsel to the Commission on this.  Because I think that

      12       when we started out this morning, we had gone through

      13       what all the parties had agreed to that would be within

      14       the confines of the matter here, and --

      15                 MR. SLOAN:  Well, could I make -- could I make

      16       one more argument --

      17                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  -- we seem to be going

      18       beyond that right now.

      19                 MR. SLOAN:  Mr. Chairman, the testimony that

      20       we have is that the local interconnection service

      21       arrangement that Comcast Phone offers is unusual in

      22       terms of what Mr. Meredith characterizes as its

      23       vagueness and in terms of what he characterizes as the

      24       open-ended terms of the offering itself.

      25                 I have asked him if he was involved in
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       1       negotiating those agreements and has experience, and he

       2       said that he doesn't.  And I am now asking him to take a

       3       look at and will eventually seek the admission of

       4       similar tariffs that another carrier that offers the

       5       functionally identical service has on file in state

       6       commissions around the country and that have been

       7       expressly deemed to constitute telecommunications

       8       carrier offerings entitling Sprint to interconnection.

       9       And I think that clearly the relevance, the probative

      10       value of this evidence for this Commission's

      11       decision-making far exceeds any prejudice that TDS could

      12       claim to suffer.

      13                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Okay.  Let's do this.

      14                 MR. WAHLEN:  Mr. Chairman, could I just offer

      15       two things very quickly?

      16                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  In law school they told me

      17       that anytime a lawyer uses the word clearly there is a

      18       problem.  So you are recognized.  I am still going to

      19       take a moment --

      20                 MR. SLOAN:  Strike clearly.

      21                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Okay.  Good.  You're

      22       recognized.

      23                 MR. WAHLEN:  A couple of things.  The order on

      24       prehearing procedure in this case indicated that if a

      25       party wishes to use demonstrative exhibits during the
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       1       hearing they were to be identified by the time of the

       2       prehearing conference.  It also indicated that requests

       3       for official recognition should be filed a certain time

       4       before the hearing started.

       5                 The issue here is not -- I mean, they just

       6       haven't been authenticated.  No one has testified yet

       7       that these are what they say they are, and that's the

       8       real issue.  And you can't even get into a hearsay

       9       evaluation until there is some determination that these

      10       documents are what they say they are.  They are just not

      11       self-authenticating documents.

      12                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  As I said earlier, we are

      13       going to take a quick recess, and I will confer with

      14       counsel to the Commission, and then I will be right with

      15       you.  Let's take five.

      16                 MR. SLOAN:  Cross-examination exhibits.

      17                 (Off the record.)

      18                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  We are back on the record.

      19       And when we last left there was an objection made to the

      20       document that was marked for identification as Number 5.

      21       The objection was timely made, and my ruling would be

      22       not to allow this into this record.  I mean, you say it

      23       is Sprint's, but it's not the official document of the

      24       Texas PUC, so we are not going to allow it.

      25                 You may proceed.
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       1                 MR. SLOAN:  Thank you, sir.  I've got no

       2       further questions.

       3                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Thank you.  We will proceed

       4       with staff.

       5                 MS. BROOKS:  Staff has a question for

       6       Mr. Meredith.

       7                 THE WITNESS:  Good afternoon.

       8                          CROSS EXAMINATION

       9       BY MS. BROOKS:

      10            Q.   Good afternoon.  I understand, also, fully

      11       understand that you are an attorney -- you are not an

      12       attorney, so we are not looking for a legal opinion, but

      13       I would like to get your take on a recent change to

      14       Chapter 364 of the Florida Statutes.  Specifically, I'm

      15       going to hand you a copy of 364.013, which now includes

      16       language regarding interconnection between CLECs and

      17       ILECs regardless of the technology by which the voice

      18       traffic is originated and terminated to an end user.

      19                 Do you see that language in Lines 155 through

      20       165?

      21            A.   The sentence that begins with notwithstanding?

      22            Q.   I'm sorry?

      23            A.   The sentence that begins with notwithstanding?

      24            Q.   Yes.

      25            A.   Yes, I do see that.
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       1            Q.   Could you please take a minute and read it?

       2            A.   Yes, I have read that red line.

       3            Q.   Okay.  What impact, if any, do you think that

       4       this provision has on this docket?

       5            A.   Well, this particular red line is adding

       6       language that essentially says, as you characterized,

       7       that a CLEC is entitled to interconnection with a local

       8       exchange company to transmit and route traffic between

       9       both the CLEC and the LEC, regardless of the technology

      10       by which the voice traffic is originated and terminated

      11       to an end user.  This does not describe whether the -- I

      12       mean, in this context I don't know exactly how to read

      13       this one section, but let me give you two observations:

      14       First of all, interconnection -- entitled to

      15       interconnection, any carrier or any provider that is

      16       interconnected to the public switched telephone network

      17       now is interconnected.  So on a technical standpoint

      18       Quincy TDS is already interconnected with Comcast,

      19       because phone calls to and from those customers go

      20       through the PSTN, they eventually get to their

      21       destination.  So to the extent that this is an

      22       entitlement to interconnection, I think it's kind of

      23       moot, because we are already interconnected, Quincy TDS

      24       is already interconnected.  I think that's my one

      25       observation that I would say to this.
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       1                 MS. BROOKS:  Thank you.

       2                 Chairman, no further questions.

       3                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Thank you.  From the bench?

       4                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  No.

       5                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Nothing from the bench.

       6       Redirect.

       7                 MR. WAHLEN:  One redirect.

       8                         REDIRECT EXAMINATION

       9       BY MR. WAHLEN:

      10            Q.   Mr. Meredith, Mr. Sloan asked you some

      11       questions about the interconnection agreement that has

      12       been identified as Exhibit 4, and in particular you were

      13       asked about Section 3.1, or talked about Section 3.1 on

      14       Page 13.

      15            A.   Yes.

      16            Q.   Is it your understanding that this

      17       interconnection agreement is the interconnection

      18       agreement that will be entered into, subject to the few

      19       minor cleanup things, if a determination is made that

      20       Comcast Phone is entitled to interconnection under

      21       federal law?

      22            A.   I'm sorry, under federal law?

      23            Q.   Yes.

      24            A.   Yes.  The language that is highlighted on Page

      25       13 specifically identifies Section 251 of the Act,
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       1       meaning Telecommunications Act of 1996.  And I'm just

       2       looking at the title and the preamble -- in front of the

       3       whereas clauses, everything is subject to Sections 251

       4       and 252 of the Telecommunications Act.  So this would be

       5       a federal act interconnection agreement.

       6                 MR. WAHLEN:  Thank you.

       7                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Okay.  Let's back up for --

       8                 MR. WAHLEN:  I'm ready to move Exhibit 3 when

       9       you are ready.

      10                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Exhibit 3.  Are there any

      11       objections?

      12                 MR. HORTON:  No objection.

      13                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Without objection, show it

      14       done.

      15                 (Exhibit Number 3 admitted into the record.)

      16                 MR. HORTON:  And we would move Exhibit 4.

      17                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Exhibit 4.

      18                 MR. WAHLEN:  No objection.

      19                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Without objection, show it

      20       done.

      21                 (Exhibit Number 4 admitted into the record.)

      22                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  This witness did direct and

      23       rebuttal.  Anything further for this witness?

      24                 MR. WAHLEN:  No, sir.

      25                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  You may be excused.
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       1                 Staff, any concluding matters?  Let me ask the

       2       parties first.

       3                 Any concluding matters of either of the

       4       parties?

       5                 MR. HORTON:  No, sir.

       6                 MR. WAHLEN:  Not at this time.

       7                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Staff.

       8                 MS. BROOKS:  Chairman, I was unclear whether

       9       or not Exhibit 1 had been moved into the record.  If

      10       not, I would like to move it in at this time.

      11                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Yes.  Staff Exhibit Number

      12       1, which is the Comprehensive Exhibit List, has been

      13       moved in without objection; Composite Exhibit Number 2

      14       has been admitted; Composite Exhibit Number 3 has been

      15       admitted; and Exhibit Number 4 has been admitted.

      16                 Staff.

      17                 MS. BROOKS:  And, lastly, I would to go over

      18       the significant dates.

      19                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  You're recognized.

      20                 MS. BROOKS:  The transcript is due on

      21       July 27th; the briefs will be due on August 13th; and a

      22       recommendation on September the 24th.

      23                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Any questions from any of

      24       the parties about the significant dates?

      25                 MR. SLOAN:  (Inaudible.  Microphone off.)
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       1                 MS. BROOKS:  The transcript is due on

       2       July 27th, the briefs will be due on August the 13th,

       3       and the recommendation will be due on September 24th.

       4                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Is that clear to all the

       5       parties?

       6                 MR. SLOAN:  (Inaudible.  Microphone off.)

       7                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  You have to use your mike.

       8       She did not record your question; your question was not

       9       recorded.

      10                 MR. SLOAN:  I didn't have a question, for the

      11       record.

      12                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Okay.  Good.

      13                 All right.  The transcript date is July 27th;

      14       briefs are August 13th; the recommendation on

      15       September 24th.  Anything further, staff?

      16                 MS. BROOKS:  No, Mr. Chairman.

      17                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Anything further from the

      18       parties?

      19                 MR. WAHLEN:  No, sir.

      20                 MR. HORTON:  No, sir.

      21                 CHAIRMAN CARTER:  Commissioners, we are

      22       adjourned.

      23                 MR. WAHLEN:  Thank you.

      24                 MR. HORTON:  Thank you.

      25                 (The hearing concluded at 12:19 p.m.)
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